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Growing Stronger Every Day



This was a year of enormous change setting the stage for a new Denny’s 

to emerge. We have a reinvigorated balance sheet, a renewed 

emphasis on performance, a contemporary new look and a culture of 

accountability—all backed by outstanding results. Denny’s is poised 

to reaffirm our position as the nation’s leading family dining chain. 

Our mission in the coming year is to reinvest in the company to 

ensure our continued growth and our ongoing dedication to providing 

great food and great service by great people…every time.

Denny’s is America’s largest full-service family restaurant chain, 

consisting of 553 company-owned units and 1,050 franchised and 

licensed units. We have operations in the United States, Canada, 

Costa Rica, Guam, Mexico, New Zealand and Puerto Rico.

Great Food and Great Service by Great People ... Every Time!
®
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2004–A Renaissance Year at Denny’s

Reaffirming Our Position 

 as the predominant operator in the family restaurant category



Financial Highlights
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Fiscal Year Ended
 

(dollars in millions, except per share data) 2004  2003 

Revenue
 Company restaurant sales $ 871.2 $ 851.8
 Franchised and licensed restaurant revenue 88.8  89.1 

 Total revenue $ 960.0  $ 940.9 

Operating income $ 53.8  $ 46.0 

Net loss (37.7) (33.8)

Diluted loss per share (0.58 ) (0.83)

Total debt 552.8  593.5 

Number of restaurants 1,603 1,638
 Company-owned 553 561
 Franchised and licensed 1,050 1,077

  2002 2003 2004

Restaurant Units

Franchised/Licensed Units
1,110

Franchised/Licensed Units
1,050

Company Units
566

Company Units
561

Company Units
553

Franchised/Licensed Units
1,077

Company Average Unit Volumes
In thousands

  2002 2003 2004

$1,461 $1,520 $1,575



Getting Stronger Results
 by improving our capital structure and 

 reinvesting in the future
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To Our Valued 

Shareholders

Denny’s is in a different place than when I joined the company in 2001—a 

better place. We’re strong and getting stronger. The focused efforts of our 

restaurant operators, franchisees and support teams resulted in the best 

performance the company has seen in many years. While we’re celebrating 

this success, we know there is still work to do.

We ended 2004 with our 16th consecutive month of positive same-store 

sales, and this momentum has continued into 2005. Same-store sales for the 

full year 2004 increased 5.9 percent at company-owned restaurants as guest 

counts increased 1.7 percent and average guest check increased 4.1 percent. 

Our franchisees equaled our sales results with a 6.0 percent increase in 

same-store sales. Total operating revenue increased $19.1 million, or 2 per-

cent, to $960.0 million. Operating income rose by $7.8 million, or 16.9 percent, 

to $53.8 million. The net loss for 2004 was $37.7 million, which included 

$25.8 in expenses related to the financial recapitalization we successfully 

completed in October 2004.

With improved restaurant-level operations and a restructured balance sheet, 

we expect continued earnings improvement in 2005. We anticipate relisting 

the company’s stock on the NASDAQ stock market this year and intend to 

continue to build awareness that Denny’s is not only a great restaurant and 

an American icon, but a great investment as well.

Interest Expense, Net
In millions

  2003 2004 2005E*

$78.2
$69.4

$54.0

*Estimated
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Our long-term strategy calls for growing the average unit volumes in our 

existing restaurants through consistent same-store sales increases. To 

accomplish this we will continue our marketing focus on breakfast while 

using new product introductions and in-store promotions to build business 

in all dayparts. Our investment in food quality, service and hospitality will 

be ongoing as we strive to provide a better experience for our guests. 

In addition, we will keep investing in our facilities to make them more 

appealing and efficient.  This investment in infrastructure will support 

Denny’s ability to grow.

The successes of 2004 have been very gratifying for everyone at Denny’s. 

We know we earn the trust and loyalty of our customers by consistently 

meeting their expectations. We have set that same goal for our sharehold-

ers and we appreciate your support and confidence in us. This management 

team is committed to making Denny’s even better and stronger, in fact, the 

very best it can be.

Nelson J. Marchioli

Chief Executive Officer and President

March 2005

“We ended 2004 with our 16th consecutive month of positive same-store sales, 

and this momentum has continued into 2005 … This management team is 

committed to making Denny’s even better and stronger, 

in fact, the very best it can be.”

Nelson J. Marchioli

Chief Executive Officer and President

  1Q ’04 2Q ’04 3Q ’04 4Q ’04 1Q ’05

Company Same-Store Sales Increases
In percentages

6.4%

4.6%

6.8%

5.8%
6.3%
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“Abundant Value” Strategy What has Denny’s accomplished in the past year to be in its current position 

of having the best sales improvement in a decade?

During 2004, we executed a full 12 months of our new “Abundant Value” 

strategy. While this direction proved promising at the end of 2003, the 

 sustained focus accelerated the momentum. The “Abundant Value” strategy 

allowed us to shift away from the lower-priced Grand Slam to larger, higher-

priced breakfasts resulting in increased guest traffic and check. Although 

breakfast is our strongest daypart, new product innovations during lunch 

and dinner resulted in positive guest counts in those dayparts as well.

What is Denny’s doing to successfully market and leverage the brand?

The new “Our Denny’s” campaign featuring actual restaurant employees 

greatly increased our advertising awareness and influence. The “casting 

call” that was conducted resulted in over 300 cooks, servers and managers 

seeking an opportunity to share their stories in our commercials. “Our 

 Denny’s” communicates the “Abundant Value” message while reinforcing the 

hospitality and pride that is so evident in our restaurant-level employees.

What marketing and advertising initiatives are planned for the next year?

Denny’s will continue its breakfast dominance by introducing compelling 

new products that reflect the “Abundant Value” strategy. We will also 

 support lunch and dinner growth through increased product variety, menu 

specials and sales promotions. The continuation of the “Our Denny’s” cam-

paign will give us more opportunities to showcase our restaurant-level 

employees who are our best brand ambassadors. 

Growing Our Brand 
 through exciting new products and engaging advertising
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 “Denny’s will continue its breakfast dominance by introducing compelling new products 

that reflect the ‘Abundant Value’ strategy…The continuation of the ‘Our Denny’s’ 

campaign will give us more opportunities to showcase our restaurant-level 

employees who are our best brand ambassadors.”

Margaret L. Jenkins

Senior Vice President of Marketing and Franchise Development, Chief Marketing Officer



Adding Value 
 by putting more back into the business
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Investing For The Long Term How does the financial recapitalization completed in 2004 

position Denny’s going forward?

Denny’s is in its strongest financial position in 15 years. The successful 

recapitalization of the company’s balance sheet reduced our outstanding 

debt, extended the maturities on our obligations and, most importantly, 

lowered our annual interest expense by approximately $24 million. With the 

recapitalization complete, we now have the financial flexibility to continue 

making the necessary investments in our facilities and operations to position 

Denny’s for consistent long-term growth.

How will Denny’s build upon the profitability gains it achieved in 2004?

In 2004, we demonstrated the significant operating leverage achievable in 

our business with strong revenue growth. While we are excited about our 

development plans for both company and franchise restaurants, in the near 

term, Denny’s greatest opportunity to increase profits is to continue the 

strong sales momentum in our current portfolio of restaurants. We have done 

a good job at maintaining, even improving, store-level margins in a challenging 

cost environment. As we continue to have success in increasing same-store 

sales, I expect our restaurant margins to continue to improve as well.

What are your capital investment plans for 2005?

We have made substantial investments in our facilities over the last few years 

in order to catch up from many years of under investment. Our improved 

cash flow provides flexibility to complete our deferred maintenance and to 

begin long-term growth initiatives. For 2005, we expect to spend approxi-

mately $55 to $65 million on capital investments. This includes the imple-

mentation of a new point-of-sale system in our restaurants that will speed 

up checkout times, give us the capability to offer gift cards, and improve our 

labor scheduling and inventory management. We also expect to remodel 

approximately 80 company restaurants this year using the new design we 

tested in 2004. We are planning to open two new company restaurants this 

year and expect franchisees to open 15 to 20 new restaurants, signaling the 

renewed growth of the Denny’s brand. 
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“With the recapitalization complete, we now have the financial flexibility 

to continue making the necessary investments in our facilities and operations 

to position Denny’s for consistent long-term growth.”

Andrew F. Green

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



“We will continue to grow same-store sales and 

profits by investing in our restaurants and our people. 

We plan to accomplish this through a relentless focus 

on quality and execution—consistently.”

Craig E. Herman

Senior Vice President, Company Operations

Insuring Our Guests’ Experience
 through hospitality and operational excellence
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Investing In Our People How does Denny’s intend to sustain the growth and momentum 

gained in 2004?

From the standpoint of Denny’s operators, we aren’t going to let anything 

happen to interrupt this momentum. We will continue to grow same-store 

sales and profits by investing in our restaurants and our people. How we 

plan to accomplish this is through a relentless focus on quality and execu-

tion—consistently. We are insuring excellent health department evaluations 

with continuous checks of hospitality and food safety in every restaurant. 

We have added monthly service meetings at every restaurant and new 

training curricula for cooks. Our continued focus on operational excellence 

is steering us down a path of success and has become a point of pride on 

which we plan to build.

What are the key challenges facing Denny’s operators and how 

are you addressing them?

Intense competition, rising food and commodity costs, and staffing—all 

impact our restaurant margins and profitability. Finding the right people 

who have a passion for serving our guests is chief among these. That is why 

we introduced Career Connection® in 2004 to help identify people well-

suited to Denny’s hospitality culture. The pre-screening hotline allows us to 

pinpoint qualified candidates based on traits such as friendliness, honesty 

and a caring approach to service. We are also getting ready to roll out a 

nationwide hospitality recruitment program for management and crew. We 

know we already have great employees. We just need more of them. We are 

so committed to insuring our guests’ experience that we are expanding our 

staffing levels during our peak business hours. We retain the top performers 

through career development and best practices initiatives.  
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The following table summarizes the consolidated financial and operating data of Denny’s Corporation as 
of and for the years ended December 29, 2004, December 31, 2003, December 25, 2002, December 26, 
2001 and December 27, 2000. The consolidated statement of operations and statement of cash flow data 
for the years ended December 29, 2004, December 31, 2003 and December 25, 2002 and the balance 
sheet data as of December 29, 2004 and December 31, 2003 are derived from our audited consolidated 
financial statements included in this annual report. The consolidated statements of operations and state-
ments of cash flow data for the years ended December 26, 2001 and December 27, 2000 and balance 
sheet data as of December 25, 2002, December 26, 2001 and December 27, 2000 are derived from our 
audited consolidated financial statements not included in this annual report. You should read the selected 
consolidated financial and operating data set forth below together with “Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements 
and related notes included in this annual report. 

Fiscal Year Ended  
(In millions, except ratios and 
per share amounts)  

December 29,
2004 

December 31,
2003 

December 25,
2002 

December 26,
2001 

December 27,
2000 

 (Restated)(a)(b) (Restated)(a) (Restated)(a) (Restated)(a)

Statement of Operations Data:
 Operating revenue $960.0 $ 940.9 $ 948.6 $1,039.7 $1,155.2
 Operating income (loss)(c) 53.8 46.0 48.4 (20.8) (1.1)
 Income (loss) from continuing 
  operations(d) (37.7) (33.8) 6.4 (89.6) (83.3)
 Basic and diluted income (loss) 
  per share from continuing 
  operations (0.58) (0.83) 0.16 (2.23) (2.08)
 Cash dividends per 
  common share(e) — — — — —

Balance Sheet Data (at end 
 of period):      
  Current assets $ 43.6 $  31.6 $  33.1 $   39.5 $   55.7
  Working capital deficit(f)(g) (92.7) (160.5) (119.1) (147.5) (170.6)
  Net property and equipment 285.4 293.2 321.9 360.5 424.0
  Total assets 500.5 496.6 542.6 598.3 736.7
   Long-term debt, excluding 

 current portion 547.4 538.3 591.5 645.1 593.7

Cash Flow Data:      
  Net cash flows provided by 

 (used in) operating activities 30.1 26.6 8.8 8.2 (8.4)
  Net cash flows provided by 

 (used in) investing activities(h) (32.2) (13.9) 18.9 (75.1) 204.8
  Net cash flows provided by 

 (used in) financing activities(i) 10.3 (11.0) (28.7) 46.3 (335.0)

Selected Financial Data
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(a)  Fiscal years 2000 through 2003 have been restated from amounts previously reported to reflect certain adjustments as 
discussed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Restatement of Prior 
Financial Information” and in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements. Total assets and shareholders’ deficit for fiscal 
year 2000 reflect a cumulative impact of $0.6 million and $1.9 million, respectively, resulting from the restatement. 

(b)  The fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 includes 53 weeks of operations as compared with 52 weeks for all other years 
presented. We estimate that the additional, or 53rd, week added approximately $22.4 million of operating revenue in 2003. 

(c)  Operating income (loss) includes restructuring and impairment charges of $1.6 million, $4.6 million, $8.1 million, $30.5 mil-
lion and $19.0 million for 2004, 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. For a discussion of these charges, see “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Results of Operations” and Notes 2 and 4 to our 
consolidated financial statements. Additionally, as a result of adopting Statement of Financial Accounting No. 142, or 
SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” at the beginning of fiscal year 2002, we are no longer amortizing good-
will and trade names. 

(d)  We have classified FRD as discontinued operations. We completed the divestiture of FRD in 2002. See Note 15 to our 
consolidated financial statements. 

(e)  Our bank facilities have prohibited, and our previous and current public debt indentures have significantly limited, distribu-
tions and dividends on Denny’s Corporation (and its predecessors’) common equity securities. See Note 7 to our consoli-
dated financial statements. 

(f)  Working capital deficit amounts presented exclude net liabilities of discontinued operations of $15.1 million as of 
December 26, 2001 and $69.4 million as of December 27, 2000 related to FRD. We completed the divestiture of FRD in 2002. 
See Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements. 

(g)  A negative working capital position is not unusual for a restaurant operating company. The decrease in working capital defi-
cit from December 31, 2003 to December 29, 2004 is primarily related to the use of cash from the Private Placement (as 
defined below) and borrowings under the New Credit Facilities (defined below) to repay outstanding amounts related to our 
term loans and revolving loans under the Old Credit Facility (defined below) that had a December 20, 2004 expiration date. 
See “Liquidity and Capital Resources.” The increase in working capital deficit from December 25, 2002 to December 31, 2003 
is primarily attributable to the reclassification of our term loan of $40.0 million and revolving loans under the Old Credit 
Facility of $11.1 million to current liabilities as a result of their December 20, 2004 expiration date. The decrease in working 
capital deficit from December 26, 2001 to December 25, 2002 is primarily related to the use of cash on hand and borrowings 
under the Old Credit Facility to satisfy current liabilities and the reduction of company-owned units from store closures. 
The decrease in working capital deficit from December 27, 2000 to December 26, 2001 is primarily related to the use of cash 
on hand and borrowings under the credit facility to satisfy current liabilities, the reduction in capital lease obligations result-
ing in a nonoperating gain recorded in 2001 and the reduction of company-owned units from refranchising activity and 
store closures. 

(h)  Net cash flows used in investing activities for 2002 include proceeds of $39.4 million of receipts from discontinued opera-
tions resulting primarily from the divestiture of FRD on July 10, 2002. For 2001, net cash flows used in investing activities 
include $53.3 million of advances to discontinued operations. For 2000, net cash flows from investing activities include 
$158.7 million of proceeds from the maturity of investments securing our in-substance defeased debt (see (i) below). 

(i)  Net cash flows used in financing activities for 2000 include the repayment of the $160.0 million principal amount of Denny’s 
mortgage notes and the repayment of the $153.3 million principal amount of our in-substance defeased debt through the 
use of the proceeds described in (h) above. 

Selected Financial Data (continued)
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with “Selected Financial Data” and our consolidated 
financial statements and the notes thereto appearing elsewhere herein. 

Restatement of Prior Financial Information

As a result of a review of its lease accounting treatment and relevant accounting literature, Denny’s and its 
audit committee determined that it was appropriate to restate previously issued financial statements to 
correct its accounting treatment for leasehold improvements, resulting in the acceleration of depreciation 
for certain leasehold improvements. The restatement was not attributable to any material noncompliance 
with any financial reporting requirements under securities laws or as a result of any misconduct by any 
employee, officer or director of Denny’s. The restatement had no impact on our previously reported cash 
flows, revenues or same-store sales, or on our compliance with covenants under our current credit facilities 
or other debt instruments.

Historically, when accounting for leases with renewal terms, we have consistently followed the prac-
tice of using the initial lease term for determining whether a lease was a capital lease or operating lease, 
calculating straight-line rent and calculating depreciation on leased buildings and leasehold improve-
ments added at lease inception; however, leased buildings and leasehold improvements added after 
lease inception have been depreciated over a period that, in some cases, included both the initial non-
cancelable term of the lease and additional option periods provided for in the lease, or the useful lives of 
the assets, if shorter.

We believed that this accounting treatment for leasehold improvements added after lease inception 
was permitted under generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and that such treatment was 
consistent with the practices of other public companies. Following a review of our lease accounting treat-
ment and relevant accounting literature in consultation with our independent registered public account-
ing firm, we determined that we should: i) conform the depreciable lives for buildings on leased land and 
other leasehold improvements to the shorter of the economic life of the asset or the lease term used for 
determining the capital versus operating lease classification and calculating straight-line rent, and 
ii) include option periods in the depreciable lives assigned to leased buildings and leasehold improve-
ments (including those added after lease inception) only in instances in which the exercise of the option 
period can be reasonably assured (the “Accounting Treatment”). 

The cumulative balance sheet effect of the restatement related to the Accounting Treatment was an 
increase in accumulated depreciation of $3.8 million as of December 31, 2003 relating to fiscal years 1998 
through 2003. Of this amount, $1.0 million and $0.9 million was recorded as additional depreciation and 
amortization expense for fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

We also determined it was appropriate to record additional adjustments related to fiscal years 1998 
through 2003 which previously were deemed immaterial and now are being recorded as a result of our 
restatement. The cumulative balance sheet effects of these adjustments as of December 31, 2003 consist 
of a decrease in goodwill of $0.2 million, an increase in other long-term assets of $0.9 million, an increase 
in liability for insurance claims of $1.3 million and an increase in other noncurrent liabilities and deferred 
credits of $2.0 million. Of these amounts, $1.3 million was recorded as additional payroll and benefits 
expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 and $0.3 million was recorded as additional costs of 
franchise and license revenue for the year ended December 25, 2002. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations  (continued)

The impact of the restatement in the fourth quarter of 2003 is to increase the net loss by $2.3 million. 
The effect of the restatement to all other previously reported interim periods of 2003 and 2004 is not 
material. Further information on the nature and impact of these adjustments is provided in Note 2 to our 
consolidated financial statements. 

The following management’s discussion and analysis takes into account the effects of these 
adjustments. 

Overview 

Denny’s revenues are primarily derived from two sources: the sale of food and beverages at our company-
owned restaurants and the collection of royalties and fees from restaurants operated by our franchisees 
under the Denny’s name. 

Sales at our company-owned restaurants are affected by many factors including competition, economic 
conditions affecting consumer spending, the political environment including acts of war and terrorism, 
weather and changes in tastes and preferences. Additionally, the change in the number of company-owed 
restaurants greatly affects our revenues. Company restaurant sales are generally transacted in cash or 
credit cards. 

Changes in company-owned, same-store sales were as follows for 2004 as compared with 2003: 

  Q1  Q2  Q3 Q4  YTD  

Same-store sales increase 6.4% 4.6% 6.8% 5.8% 5.9%
 Guest check average increase 3.0% 3.4% 3.8% 6.0% 4.1%
 Guest count increase (decrease) 3.3% 1.1% 2.9% (0.2)% 1.7%

During the third quarter of 2003, we launched a new media campaign which promoted “abundant 
value” breakfasts for $4.99. This promotion built on two core strengths of the Denny’s brand—breakfast 
and value. As a result of this campaign and our continued focus on improving basic restaurant operations, 
our same-store sales turned positive in the second half of 2003. Building on this sales momentum, we 
promoted a series of $4.99 breakfast offerings in 2004. The success of these promotions contributed to a 
1.7% increase in guest traffic and a 5.9% increase in same-store sales, our highest annual result in over a 
decade. Also contributing to our strong same-store sales was a 4.1% increase in average guest check 
attributable to a combination of modest price increases, initiated primarily to offset rising commodity 
costs, and menu mix shifts as customers traded up to higher-priced menu items. 

Our costs of company-owned restaurant sales are exposed to volatility in two main areas: product 
costs and payroll and benefit costs. Many of the products sold in our restaurants are affected by commod-
ity pricing and are, therefore, subject to price volatility. This volatility is caused by factors that are funda-
mentally outside of our control and are often unpredictable. In general, we purchase food products based 
on market prices, or we “lock in” prices in purchase agreements with our vendors. In addition, some of our 
purchasing agreements contain features that minimize price volatility by establishing price ceilings and/or 
floors. While we will address commodity cost increases which are significant and considered long-term in 
nature by adjusting menu prices, competitive circumstances can limit such actions. 

Payroll and benefit costs’ volatility results primarily from changes in wage rates and increases in labor 
related expenses such as medical benefit costs and workers’ compensation costs. Additionally, declines in 
guest counts and investments in store level labor can cause payroll and benefit costs to increase as a 
percentage of sales. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations  (continued)

Revenues from the collection of royalties and fees from franchisees are generally affected by the 
number of franchised restaurants and the sales of these restaurants. Franchise and license revenues 
include royalties that are based on a percentage of franchisee sales, initial franchise fees and occupancy 
revenue related to restaurants leased or subleased to franchisees. Franchise and licensing revenues are 
generally billed and collected from franchisees on a weekly basis which minimizes the impact of bad debts 
on our costs of franchise and license revenues. Costs of franchise and license revenues include occupancy 
costs related to restaurants leased or subleased to franchisees; direct costs consisting primarily of payroll 
and benefit costs of franchise operations personnel; bad debt expense and marketing expenses net of 
marketing contributions received from franchisees. The composition of the franchise portfolio and the 
nature of individual lease arrangements have a significant impact on franchise occupancy revenue, as well 
as the related franchise occupancy expense. 

During the third and fourth quarters of 2004, we completed a series of recapitalization transactions 
intended to reduce interest expense, extend debt maturities and increase our financial flexibility. The 
recapitalization consisted of the following transactions, and use of proceeds therefrom, which we refer to 
as the “Refinancing Transactions”: 

 •  Private Placement. In July 2004, we received net proceeds of approximately $89.8 million from the 
Private Placement of 48.4 million shares of our common stock at a price of $1.90 per share. 

 •  New Credit Facilities. In September 2004, our subsidiaries, Denny’s, Inc. and Denny’s Realty, Inc., 
entered into the New Credit Facilities in an aggregate principal amount of $420 million, consisting 
of the New First Lien Facility (defined below) and the Second Lien Facility (defined below). The New 
First Lien Facility consists of the $225 million five-year Term Loan Facility (defined below) and the 
$75 million four-year Revolving Facility (defined below), of which $45 million is available for the issu-
ance of letters of credit. The Second Lien Facility consists of an additional $120 million six-year term 
loan facility. 

 •  Senior Notes Offering. In October 2004, Denny’s Holdings issued $175 million aggregate principal 
amount of its 10% Notes (defined below). The 10% Notes are irrevocably, fully and unconditionally 
guaranteed on a senior basis by Denny’s Corporation. 

 •  Use of Proceeds from the Refinancing Transactions. We used the net proceeds from the Private 
Placement principally to repay the $40 million term loan under our then existing senior secured 
credit facility (the “Old Credit Facility”) and to repurchase approximately $35.1 million aggregate 
principal amount of the 11¼% Notes (defined below) and approximately $8.7 million aggregate 
principal amount of the 12¾% Notes (defined below). We used the proceeds from borrowings under 
the New Credit Facilities and proceeds from the offering of 10% Notes to repay remaining amounts 
outstanding under the Old Credit Facility, repurchase or redeem the remaining 11¼% Notes and 
12¾% Notes, and pay fees and expenses in connection with the Refinancing Transactions. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations  (continued)

Statements of Operations 

Fiscal Year Ended

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 29, 

2004  
December 31, 

2003  
December 25, 

2002 

(Restated)(a)(b) (Restated)(a)

Revenue:  
 Company restaurant sales $ 871,248 90.8% $ 851,853 90.5% $ 858,569 90.5%
 Franchise and license revenue  88,758 9.2% 89,092 9.5% 90,015 9.5%

  Total operating revenue  960,006 100.0% 940,945 100.0% 948,584 100.0%

Costs of company restaurant sales(c):   
 Product costs 225,200 25.8% 219,193 25.7% 205,036 23.9%
 Payroll and benefits 362,450 41.6% 369,941 43.4% 361,483 42.1%
 Occupancy 49,581 5.7% 49,033 5.8% 49,198 5.7%
 Other operating expenses  117,834 13.5% 118,563 13.9% 122,491 14.3%

  Total costs of company restaurant sales  755,065 86.7% 756,730 88.8% 738,208 86.0%

Costs of franchise and license revenue(c) 28,196 31.8% 27,125 30.4% 28,908 32.1%
General and administrative expenses 66,922 7.0% 51,268 5.4% 50,001 5.3%
Depreciation and other amortization 56,649 5.9% 61,037 6.5% 84,103 8.9%
Restructuring charges and exit costs 495 0.1% 613 0.1% 3,521 0.4%
Impairment charges 1,130 0.1% 3,986 0.4% 4,556 0.5%
Gains on disposition of assets and other, net  (2,271) (0.2)% (5,844) (0.6)% (9,127) (1.0)%

  Total operating costs and expenses  906,186 94.4% 894,915 95.1% 900,170 94.9%

Operating income  53,820 5.6% 46,030 4.9% 48,414 5.1%

Other expenses:       
 Interest expense, net 69,428 7.2% 78,190 8.3% 76,401 8.1%
 Other nonoperating expense (income), net  21,265 2.2% 901 0.1% (32,915) (3.5)%

  Total other expenses, net  90,693 9.4% 79,091 8.4% 43,486 4.6%

Income (loss) before income taxes (36,873) (3.8)% (33,061) (3.5)% 4,928 0.5%
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes  802 0.1% 759 0.1% (1,422) (0.2)%

Income (loss) from continuing operations (37,675) (3.9)% (33,820) (3.6)% 6,350 0.7%
Discontinued operations:       
 Income from operations of discontinued 
  operations, net of income tax benefit: $3,500 — — — — 4,040 0.4%
 Gain on sale of discontinued operations, 
  net of income tax provision: $160  — — — — 56,562 6.0%

Net income (loss)  $ (37,675) (3.9)% $ (33,820) (3.6)% $ 66,952 7.1%

Other Data:       
Company-owned average unit sales $ 1,575  $ 1,520  $ 1,461  
Same-store sales increase (decrease) 
 (company-owned)(d)(e) 5.9%  0.2%  (1.0)%  
  Guest check average increase(e) 4.1%  3.2%  1.8%  
  Guest count increase (decrease)(e) 1.7%  (2.9)%  (2.8)%  

(a)  Fiscal years 2002 and 2003 have been restated from amounts previously reported to reflect certain adjustments as discussed 
in “Restatement of Prior Financial Information” above and in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

(b)  The fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 includes 53 weeks of operations as compared with 52 weeks for all other years 
presented. We estimate that the additional, or 53rd, week added approximately $22.4 million of total operating revenue 
in 2003. 

(c)  Costs of company restaurant sales percentages are as a percentage of company restaurant sales. Costs of franchise and 
license revenue percentages are as a percentage of franchise and license revenue. All other percentages are as a percent-
age of total operating revenue. 

(d)  Same-store sales include sales from restaurants that were open the same period in both 2004 and 2003. For purposes of 
calculating same-store sales, the 53rd week of 2003 was compared with the 1st week of 2003. 

(e) Prior year amounts have not been restated for 2004 comparable units. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations  (continued)

Unit Activity

  

Ending Units
December 31,

2003 

Units
Opened/
Acquired  

Units
Refranchised  

Franchised
Units

Reacquired  
Units

Closed  

Ending Units
December 29,

2004 

Company-owned restaurants 561 1 (1) 1 (9) 553
Franchised and licensed 
 restaurants  1,077 13 1 (1) (40) 1,050

  1,638 14 — — (49) 1,603

2004 Compared with 2003 

Company Restaurant Operations 

During 2004, we realized a 5.9% increase in same-store sales, comprised of a 1.7% increase in guest counts 
and a 4.1% increase in guest check average. Company restaurant sales increased $19.4 million (2.3%), over-
coming the impact of the effects of a fifty-third week of activity in 2003 (approximately $20.7 million). 
Higher sales resulted from the increase in same-store sales for 2004, partially offset by an eight equivalent-
unit decrease in company-owned restaurants. The decrease in company-owned restaurants resulted 
primarily from store closures. 

Total costs of company restaurant sales as a percentage of company restaurant sales decreased to 
86.7% from 88.8%. Product costs increased to 25.8% from 25.7%. Fiscal year 2003 benefited from the 
impact of a $2.6 million reduction of deferred gain amortization related to the sale of former distribution 
subsidiaries in previous years. This deferred gain became fully amortized in September of 2003. Excluding 
the amortization of deferred gains for 2003, product costs as a percentage of sales were 26.0%. Payroll 
and benefits costs decreased to 41.6% from 43.4% due to increased labor efficiency resulting from higher 
sales, as well as lower health benefits costs resulting from new health benefits programs implemented in 
2004. These cost improvements were partially offset by increased incentive compensation and higher 
payroll taxes compared with the prior year. Occupancy costs remained essentially flat at 5.7% in 2004 
compared with 5.8% in 2003. Other operating expenses were comprised of the following amounts and 
percentages of company restaurant sales: 

Fiscal Year Ended

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003 

Utilities $ 39,511 4.5% $ 38,410 4.5%
Repairs and maintenance 17,363 2.0% 17,984 2.1%
Marketing 29,003 3.3% 28,995 3.4%
Other  31,957 3.7% 33,174 3.9%

 Other operating expenses  $117,834 13.5% $118,563 13.9%

Franchise Operations 

Franchise and license revenue and costs of franchise and license revenue were comprised of the following 
amounts and percentages of franchise and license revenue: 
 Fiscal Year Ended 

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 29, 

2004 
December 31, 

2003 

Royalties and initial fees $57,346 64.6% $56,059 62.9%
Occupancy revenue  31,412 35.4% 33,033 37.1%

 Franchise and license revenue  88,758 100.0% 89,092 100.0%

Occupancy costs 21,047 23.7% 21,704 24.3%
Other direct costs  7,149 8.1% 5,421 6.1%

 Costs of franchise and license revenue  $28,196 31.8% $27,125 30.4%
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The revenue decrease of $0.3 million (0.4%) is primarily the result of a fifty-third week of activity in 2003 
(approximately $1.7 million) and a net 27-unit decrease in franchised and licensed units due to unit closures, 
partially offset by new franchise unit openings and a 6.0% increase in same-store sales at franchised units. 

Costs of franchise and license revenue increased $1.1 million (3.9%) as a result of an increase in fran-
chise incentive compensation for operations personnel compared with 2003, coupled with 2003 costs 
benefiting from a net $0.3 million reduction in bad debt expense related to the collection of certain past 
due accounts. As a percentage of franchise and license revenues, these costs increased to 31.8% for the 
year ended December 29, 2004 from 30.4% for the year ended December 31, 2003. 

Other Operating Costs and Expenses 

Other operating costs and expenses such as general and administrative expenses and depreciation and 
amortization expense relate to both company and franchise operations. 

General and administrative expenses increased $15.7 million (30.5%) compared with the year ended 
December 31, 2003. The increase resulted primarily from higher accruals for incentive compensation of 
$9.1 million, higher stock-based compensation costs of $6.5 million and the incurrence of additional recap-
italization related expenses of $2.4 million compared with 2003. These increases were partially offset by 
reductions in corporate overhead related to organizational changes. 

Depreciation and other amortization decreased $4.4 million primarily resulting from certain assets 
becoming fully depreciated. 

Restructuring charges and exit costs of $0.5 million for the year ended December 29, 2004 relate to 
units closed in 2004 and adjustments to liabilities related to units closed in previous years. See Note 4 to 
our consolidated financial statements. 

Impairment charges of $1.1 million for the year ended December 29, 2004 and $4.0 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2003 relate to the identification of certain underperforming restaurants. The reduc-
tion in these charges is partially due to the improvement in operating performance of all stores as 
evidenced by the increase in same-store sales in 2004 compared with 2003. 

Gains on disposition of assets and other, net of $2.3 million in 2004 and $5.8 million in 2003 primarily 
represent gains on sales of surplus properties. 

Operating income was $53.8 million for the year ended December 29, 2004 compared with $46.0 
million for the year ended December 31, 2003. 

Interest expense, net, for the year ended December 29, 2004 was comprised of $70.9 million of interest 
expense offset by $1.5 million of interest income compared with $79.6 million of interest expense offset by 
$1.4 million of interest income for the year ended December 31, 2003. The decrease in interest expense 
resulted from the Refinancing Transactions completed in the third and fourth quarters of 2004. See 
“Liquidity and Capital Resources.” 

Other nonoperating expense, net of $21.3 million for the year ended December 29, 2004 primarily 
represents the payment of premiums and expenses as well as write-offs of deferred financing costs and 
debt premiums associated with the repurchase of the 11¼% Notes and 12¾% Notes and the repayment of 
the Old Credit Facility. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Other nonoperating expense of $0.9 million 
for year ended December 31, 2003 primarily represents the loss on the early extinguishment of $3.0 million 
of industrial revenue bonds. 

The provision for income taxes was $0.8 million for each of the years ended December 29, 2004 and 
December 31, 2003. These provisions for income taxes primarily represent gross receipts-based state and 
foreign income taxes which do not directly fluctuate in relation to changes in loss before income taxes. We 
have provided valuation allowances related to any benefits from income taxes resulting from the applica-
tion of a statutory tax rate to our net operating losses. Accordingly, no additional (benefit from) or provi-
sion for income taxes has been reported for the periods presented. In establishing our valuation allowance, 
we have taken into consideration certain tax planning strategies involving the sale of appreciated proper-
ties in order to alter the timing of the expiration of certain net operating loss, or NOL, carryforwards in the 
event they were to expire unused. Such strategies, if implemented in future periods, are considered by us 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations  (continued)
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to be prudent and feasible in light of current circumstances. Circumstances may change in future periods 
such that we can no longer conclude that such tax planning strategies are prudent and feasible, which 
would require us to record additional deferred tax valuation allowances. Without such tax planning strate-
gies, our valuation allowance would have increased by approximately $11 million in 2004. See Note 9 to 
our consolidated financial statements. 

Net loss was $37.7 million for the year ended December 29, 2004 compared with $33.8 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2003 due to the factors noted above. 

2003 Compared with 2002 

Company Restaurant Operations 

During 2003, we realized a 0.2% increase in same-store sales comprised of a 2.9% decrease in guest counts 
and a 3.2% increase in guest check average. Company restaurant sales decreased $6.7 million (0.8%). The 
decrease would have been substantially larger except for the inclusion of the fifty-third week representing 
approximately $20.7 million of company restaurant sales. Lower sales resulted primarily from a 25 equiva-
lent-unit decrease in company-owned restaurants partially offset by the fifty-third week of company oper-
ations and the 0.2% increase in same-store sales for the current year. The decrease in company-owned 
restaurants resulted primarily from store closures. 

Total costs of company restaurant sales as a percentage of company restaurant sales increased to 
88.8% from 86.0%. Product costs increased to 25.7% from 23.9%, including the impact of a $4.9 million 
reduction of deferred gain amortization related to the sale of former distribution subsidiaries in previous 
years. This deferred gain became fully amortized in September of 2003. Excluding the amortization of 
deferred gains for both years, product costs as a percentage of sales were 26.0% in 2003 and 24.8% in 
2002. This increase in product cost resulted from unfavorable commodity costs, especially pork and beef, 
quality improvements to existing products and a shift in menu mix. Payroll and benefits increased to 
43.4% from 42.1% due to increased restaurant staffing levels aimed at improving customer satisfaction, 
higher workers’ compensation and medical costs and higher wage rates. Occupancy costs increased 
slightly to 5.8% from 5.7% of company restaurant sales. Other operating expenses were comprised of the 
following amounts and percentages of company restaurant sales: 

Fiscal Year Ended

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 31, 

2003 
December 25, 

2002 

Utilities $ 38,410 4.5% $ 36,443 4.2%
Repairs and maintenance 17,984 2.1% 19,471 2.3%
Marketing 28,995 3.4% 35,273 4.1%
Other  33,174 3.9% 31,304 3.7%

 Other operating expenses  $118,563 13.9% $122,491 14.3%

The decrease in marketing expenses as a percentage of company restaurant sales resulted primarily 
from lower contributions to the marketing budget by company-owned restaurants. As a percentage of 
sales, other operating expenses were not significantly affected by the 53rd week. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations  (continued)
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Franchise Operations 

Franchise and license revenue and costs of franchise and license revenue were comprised of the following 
amounts and percentages of franchise and license revenue: 

Fiscal Year Ended

(Dollars in thousands)  
December 31, 

2003 
December 25, 

2002 

(Restated)
Royalties and initial fees $56,059 62.9% $56,039 62.3%
Occupancy revenue  33,033 37.1% 33,976 37.7%

 Franchise and license revenue  89,092  100.0% 90,015 100.0%

Occupancy costs 21,704 24.3% 22,945 25.5%
Other direct costs  5,421 6.1% 5,963 6.6%

 Costs of franchise and license revenue  $27,125 30.4% $28,908 32.1%

The revenue decrease of $0.9 million (1.0%) resulted from a net 33-unit decrease in franchised and 
licensed units due to unit closures and a decrease in initial franchise fees on fewer franchise restaurant 
openings, partially offset by approximately $1.7 million of revenues recorded for the fifty-third week of 
franchise activity in 2003. 

Costs of franchise and license revenue decreased $1.8 million (6.2%) as a result of the decrease in fran-
chised and licensed units and a reduction in administrative fees. As a percentage of franchise and license 
revenues, these costs decreased to 30.4% for the year ended December 31, 2003 from 32.1% for the year 
ended December 25, 2002. 

Other Operating Costs and Expenses 

Other operating costs and expenses such as general and administrative expenses and depreciation and 
amortization expense relate to both company and franchise operations. 

General and administrative expenses increased $1.3 million (2.5%) compared with the year ended 
December 25, 2002. The increase resulted primarily from the elimination of management and support 
service fees paid by FRD due to its divestiture in the prior year (approximately $6.8 million) and the incur-
rence of costs related to exploring possible alternatives to improve our long-term liquidity and capital 
structure (approximately $1.8 million). These increases were partially offset by reductions in corporate 
overhead related to organizational changes. 

Depreciation and other amortization decreased $23.1 million primarily resulting from certain assets 
becoming fully depreciated in January 2003. In January 1998, certain assets were revalued and assigned a 
five year life as a result of the company’s emergence from bankruptcy. 

Restructuring charges and exit costs of $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 reflect the 
recording of restructuring charges related to the elimination of approximately 60 out-of-restaurant sup-
port staff positions (approximately $2.2 million) partially offset by the reversal of rent obligations resulting 
from our release from the remaining lease term of our former corporate headquarters in California 
(approximately $1.6 million). Exit costs of $3.5 million recorded in 2002 primarily represent additional pro-
visions for future rent obligations on Denny’s former corporate headquarters facility in California due to 
the bankruptcy of our most significant subtenant. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations  (continued)
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Impairment charges of $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 and $4.6 million for the year 
ended December 25, 2002 relate to the identification of certain underperforming restaurants. 

Gains on disposition of assets and other, net of $5.8 million in 2003 and $9.1 million in 2002 primarily 
represent gains on sales of surplus properties. 

Operating income was $46.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared with $48.4 
million for the year ended December 25, 2002. 

Interest expense, net, for the year ended December 31, 2003 was comprised of $79.6 million of interest 
expense offset by $1.4 million of interest income compared with $79.8 million of interest expense offset by 
$3.4 million of interest income for the year ended December 25, 2002. The decrease in interest expense 
resulted from the effects of our senior note exchanges and the effects of a reduction in discounted 
accrued exit cost liabilities, partially offset by higher deferred financing cost amortization related to the 
Old Credit Facility and a fifty-third week of interest in 2003. The decrease in interest income resulted from 
the repayment in 2002 of the credit facility with FRD Acquisition Co., our former subsidiary (with respect 
to which Denny’s was the lender). 

Other nonoperating expense, net of $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 primarily rep-
resents the loss on the early extinguishment of $3.0 million of industrial revenue bonds. Other nonoperat-
ing income of $32.9 million for year ended December 25, 2002 primarily represents a gain related to the 
issuance of the 12¾% Notes in exchange for a portion of the 11¼% Notes. 

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes was $0.8 million and $(1.4) million for the year ended 
December 31, 2003 and December 25, 2002, respectively. Included in income taxes for the year ended 
December 25, 2002 was a $2.7 million benefit related to the enactment of H.R. 3090, the Job Creation and 
Worker Assistance Act of 2002. Excluding this benefit, we recorded a provision for income taxes of $1.3 
million for the year ended December 25, 2002. These provisions for income taxes primarily represent 
gross receipts-based state and foreign income taxes which do not directly fluctuate in relation to changes 
in loss before income taxes. We have provided valuation allowances related to any benefits from income 
taxes resulting from the application of a statutory tax rate to our net operating losses. Accordingly, no 
additional (benefit from) or provision for income taxes has been reported for the periods presented. 
In establishing our valuation allowance, we have taken into consideration certain tax planning strategies 
involving the sale of appreciated properties in order to alter the timing of the expiration of certain NOL 
carryforwards in the event they were to expire unused. Such strategies, if implemented in future periods, 
are considered by us to be prudent and feasible in light of current circumstances. Circumstances may 
change in future periods such that we can no longer conclude that such tax planning strategies are pru-
dent and feasible, which would require us to record additional deferred tax valuation allowances. Without 
such tax planning strategies, our valuation allowance would have increased by approximately $11 million in 
2003. See Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements. 

As a result of the divestiture of FRD, we recorded a gain on disposal of discontinued operations of 
$56.6 million during the year ended December 25, 2002. Additionally, during the year ended December 25, 
2002, we recorded income from discontinued operations of $4.0 million as a result of the reversal of 
liabilities related to entities previously reported as discontinued operations. 

Net loss was $33.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared with net income of $67.0 
million for the year ended December 25, 2002 due to the factors noted above. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Historically, our primary sources of liquidity and capital resources were cash generated from operations, 
borrowings under the Old Credit Facility (and other prior credit facilities) and, in recent years, cash pro-
ceeds from the sale of surplus properties, sale-leaseback transactions and the sale of restaurants to fran-
chisees. Currently, our primary sources of liquidity are cash generated from operations and borrowings 
under the New Credit Facilities. We believe that our estimated cash flows from operations for 2005, com-
bined with our capacity for additional borrowings under the New Credit Facilities, will enable us to meet 
our anticipated cash requirements and fund capital expenditures through the end of 2005. The following 
table sets forth a calculation of our cash provided by operations, for the periods indicated: 

 Fiscal Year Ended 

(In thousands)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003 

(Restated)
Net loss $(37,675) $(33,820)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 21,744 1,192
Impairment charges 1,130 3,986
Restructuring charges and exit costs 495 613
Gains on disposition of assets and other, net (2,271) (5,844)
Other noncash charges 63,917 62,131
Change in certain working capital items (10,520) 2,358
Change in other assets and other liabilities, net  (6,751) (4,008)

Cash provided by operations  $  30,069 $  26,608 

Our principal capital requirements have been largely associated with remodeling and maintaining our 
existing company-owned restaurants and facilities. Net cash flows used for investing activities were $32.2 
million for 2004. Our capital expenditures in 2004 were $39.6 million, and of that amount, $3.5 million was 
financed through capital leases. Capital expenditures in 2004 were offset by net proceeds from disposi-
tions of surplus property of $3.6 million. 

Cash flows provided by financing activities were $10.3 million for 2004, which primarily represents net 
activity related to our Refinancing Transactions completed during 2004. 

During the third and fourth quarters of 2004, we completed the Refinancing Transactions intended to 
reduce interest expense, extend debt maturities and increase our financial flexibility. The Refinancing 
Transactions consisted of the transactions and use of proceeds therefrom as described below: 

Private Placement 
In July 2004, Denny’s Corporation received net proceeds of approximately $89.8 million from a private 
placement of 48.4 million shares of our common stock at a price of $1.90 per share (the “Private Placement”). 
The proceeds are net of $2.2 million of direct costs related to the Private Placement. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
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New Credit Facilities 
On September 21, 2004, our subsidiaries, Denny’s, Inc. and Denny’s Realty, Inc. (the “Borrowers”), entered 
into new senior secured credit facilities in an aggregate principal amount of $420 million, consisting of a 
new first lien facility and a second lien facility. The new first lien facility consists of a $225 million five-year 
term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) and a $75 million four-year revolving credit facility, of which $45 
million is available for the issuance of letters of credit (the “Revolving Facility” and together with the Term 
Loan Facility, the “New First Lien Facility”). The second lien facility consists of an additional $120 million 
six-year term loan facility (the “Second Lien Facility,” and together with the New First Lien Facility, the 
“New Credit Facilities”). 

The Term Loan Facility will mature on September 30, 2009 and will amortize in equal quarterly install-
ments of $0.6 million (commencing March 31, 2005) with all remaining amounts due on the maturity date. 
The Revolving Facility will mature on September 30, 2008. The Second Lien Facility will mature on 
September 30, 2010 with no amortization of principal prior to the maturity date. 

The interest rates under the New First Lien Facility are as follows: At the option of the Borrowers, 
Adjusted LIBOR plus a spread of 3.25% per annum (3.50% per annum for the Revolving Facility) or ABR 
(the Alternate Base Rate, which is the highest of the Bank of America Prime Rate and the Federal Funds 
Effective Rate plus 1/2 of 1%) plus a spread of 1.75% per annum (2.0% per annum for the Revolving 
Facility). The interest rate on the Second Lien Facility, at the Borrower’s option, is Adjusted LIBOR plus a 
spread of 5.125% per annum or ABR plus a spread of 3.625% per annum. As discussed below in “Quantita-
tive and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,” we entered into an interest rate swap subsequent to 
December 29, 2004 with respect to a $75 million notional amount of the floating rate term loan debt. 

At December 29, 2004, we had outstanding letters of credit of $37.5 million under our Revolving Facility, 
leaving net availability of $37.5 million. There were no revolving loans outstanding at December 29, 2004. 

The New Credit Facilities are secured by substantially all of our assets and guaranteed by Denny’s Cor-
poration, Denny’s Holdings and all of their subsidiaries. The New Credit Facilities contain certain financial 
covenants (i.e., maximum total debt to EBITDA (as defined under the New Credit Facilities) ratio require-
ments, maximum senior secured debt to EBITDA ratio requirements and minimum fixed charge coverage 
ratio requirements and limitations on capital expenditures), requirements, negative covenants, conditions 
precedent, material adverse change provisions, events of default and other terms, conditions and provisions 
customarily found in credit agreements for facilities and transactions of its type. We were in compliance with 
the terms of the credit facility as of December 29, 2004. 

Senior Notes Offering 
On October 5, 2004, Denny’s Holdings issued $175 million aggregate principal amount of its 10% Senior 
Notes due 2012 (the “10% Notes”). The 10% Notes are irrevocably, fully and unconditionally guaranteed 
on a senior basis by Denny’s Corporation. The 10% Notes are general, unsecured senior obligations of 
Denny’s Holdings, and rank equal in right of payment to all of our existing and future indebtedness and 
other obligations that are not, by their terms, expressly subordinated in right of payment to the 10% 
Notes; rank senior in right of payment to all existing and future subordinated indebtedness; and are effec-
tively subordinated to all existing and future secured debt to the extent of the value of the assets securing 
such debt and structurally subordinated to all indebtedness and other liabilities of the subsidiaries of 
Denny’s Holdings, including the New Credit Facilities. The 10% Notes bear interest at the rate of 10% per 
year from and including October 5, 2004, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of 
each year, commencing on April 1, 2005. The 10% Notes will mature on October 1, 2012. 
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The indenture governing the 10% Notes contains certain covenants limiting the ability of Denny’s 
Holdings and its subsidiaries (but not its parent, Denny’s Corporation) to, among other things, incur addi-
tional indebtedness (including disqualified capital stock); pay dividends or make distributions or certain 
other restricted payments; make certain investments; create liens on our assets to secure debt; enter into 
sale and leaseback transactions; enter into transactions with affiliates; merge or consolidate with another 
company; sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets; enter into new lines of 
business; and guarantee indebtedness. These covenants are subject to a number of important limitations 
and exceptions. 

Denny’s Corporation is a holding company with no operations or assets, other than as related to the 
ownership of the common stock of Denny’s Holdings and its status as a holding company. Denny’s Corpo-
ration is not subject to the restrictive covenants in the indenture governing the 10% Notes. Denny’s Hold-
ings is restricted from paying dividends and making distributions to Denny’s Corporation under the terms 
of the indenture governing the 10% Notes. 

Use of Proceeds from the Refinancing Transactions 
We used the net proceeds from the Private Placement principally to repay the $40 million term loan under 
the Old Credit Facility and to repurchase approximately $35.1 million aggregate principal amount of the 
11¼% Senior Notes due 2008 of Denny’s Corporation (the “11¼% Notes”) and approximately $8.7 million 
aggregate principal amount of the 12¾% Senior Notes due 2007 of Denny’s Corporation and Denny’s 
Holdings (the “12¾% Notes”). 

We used the proceeds from borrowings under the New Credit Facilities and proceeds from the offer-
ing of 10% Notes to repay remaining amounts outstanding under the Old Credit Facility, repurchase or 
redeem the remaining 11¼% Notes and 12¾% Notes and pay fees and expenses in connection with the 
Refinancing Transactions. During 2004, we recorded $21.7 million of losses on early extinguishment of 
debt which primarily represent the payment of premiums and expenses as well as write-offs of deferred 
financing costs and debt premiums associated with the repurchases of the 11¼% Notes and 12¾% Notes 
and the termination of the Old Credit Facility. These losses are included as a component of other nonop-
erating expense (income), net in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fiscal 
year ended December 29, 2004. 

Our future contractual obligations and commitments at December 29, 2004 consist of the following: 

 Payments Due by Period 

(In thousands)  Total 
Less than

1 Year 
1-2 

Years 
3-4 

Years 
5 Years and 
Thereafter

Long-term debt $ 521,211 $  1,975 $ 4,885 $219,094 $295,257
Capital lease obligations 57,240 7,725 14,500 11,061 23,954
Operating lease obligations 315,514 46,586 84,344 66,002 118,582
Interest obligations(a) 250,062 39,367 78,246 74,218 58,231
Pension and other defined contribution 
 plan obligations(b) 3,487 3,487 — — —
Purchase obligations(c)  296,708 206,230 31,573 31,416 27,489

  Total  $1,444,222 $305,370 $213,548 $401,791 $523,513

(a)  Interest obligations represent payments related to our long-term debt outstanding at December 29, 2004. For long-term 
debt with variable rates, we have used the rate applicable at December 29, 2004 to project interest over the periods pre-
sented in the table above. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for balances and terms of the New Credit 
Facilities at December 29, 2004. 

(b)  Pension and other defined contribution plan obligations are estimates based on facts and circumstances at December 29, 
2004. Amounts cannot be estimated for more than one year. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements. 

(c)  Purchase obligations include amounts payable under purchase contracts for food and non-food products. In most cases, 
these agreements do not obligate us to purchase any specific volumes. In most cases, these agreements have provisions 
that would allow us to cancel such agreements with appropriate notice. Amounts included in the table above represent our 
estimate of minimum purchases required as a result of these cancellation provisions. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
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At December 29, 2004, our working capital deficit was $92.7 million compared with $160.5 million at 
December 31, 2003. The working capital deficit decrease of $67.8 million resulted primarily from the repay-
ment of balances outstanding under the Old Credit Facility, which were classified as current liabilities at 
December 31, 2003 with proceeds from the Private Placement. We are able to operate with a substantial 
working capital deficit because, (1) restaurant operations and most food service operations are conducted 
primarily on a cash (and cash equivalent) basis with a low level of accounts receivable, (2) rapid turnover 
allows a limited investment in inventories and (3) accounts payable for food, beverages and supplies 
usually become due after the receipt of cash from the related sales. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our 
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and 
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including 
those related to self-insurance liabilities, impairment of long-lived assets and restructuring and exit costs. 
We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions; however, we believe that our 
estimates, including those for the above-described items, are reasonable. 

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and 
estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements: 

Self-insurance liabilities. We record liabilities for insurance claims during periods in which we have 
been insured under large deductible programs or have been self-insured for our medical and dental 
claims and workers’ compensation, general/product and automobile insurance liabilities. Maximum self-
insured retention, including defense costs per occurrence, ranges from $0.5 to $1.0 million per individual 
claim for workers’ compensation and for general/product and automobile liability. The liabilities for prior 
and current estimated incurred losses are discounted to their present value based on expected loss pay-
ment patterns determined by independent actuaries. These estimates include assumptions regarding 
claims frequency and severity as well as changes in our business environment, medical costs and the 
regulatory environment that could impact our overall self-insurance costs. 

During 2003, we began to experience negative trends related to workers’ compensation costs, espe-
cially in California. Approximately 40% of our workers’ compensation liabilities relate to California. As a 
result of these trends, we recorded $5.2 million and $3.3 million of additional workers’ compensation 
expense in 2004 and 2003, respectively, in addition to our periodic estimated cost per labor hour. 

Total discounted insurance liabilities at December 29, 2004 and December 31, 2003 were $40.4 million 
and $38.5 million, respectively, reflecting a 5% discount rate. The related undiscounted amounts at such 
dates were $45.6 million and $43.3 million, respectively. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
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Impairment of long-lived assets. We evaluate our long-lived assets for impairment at the restaurant 
level on a quarterly basis or whenever changes or events indicate that the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. We assess impairment of restaurant-level assets based on the operating cash flows of the 
restaurant and our plans for restaurant closings. Generally, all units with negative cash flows from opera-
tions for the most recent twelve months at each quarter end are included in our assessment. In perform-
ing our assessment, we must make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows, including estimated 
proceeds from similar asset sales, and other factors to determine both the recoverability and the esti-
mated fair value of the respective assets. If the long-lived assets of a restaurant are not recoverable based 
upon estimated future, undiscounted cash flows, we write the assets down to their fair value. If these 
estimates or their related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record additional 
impairment charges. 

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, we recorded impairment charges of $1.1 million, $4.0 million and $4.6 mil-
lion, respectively, for underperforming restaurants, including restaurants closed. At December 29, 2004, 
we had a total of 18 restaurants with an aggregate net book value of approximately $2.0 million, after tak-
ing into consideration impairment charges recorded, which had negative cash flows from operations for 
the most recent twelve months. 

Restructuring and exit costs. As a result of changes in our organizational structure, we have recorded 
charges for restructuring and exit costs. These costs consist primarily of severance and outplacement 
costs for terminated employees and the costs of future obligations related to closed units or units 
identified for closure. 

In assessing the discounted liabilities for future costs of obligations related to closed units or units 
identified for closure prior to December 26, 2002, the date we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” or SFAS 146, we 
make assumptions regarding the timing of units’ closures, amounts of future subleases, amounts of future 
property taxes and costs of closing the units. 

 As a result of the adoption of SFAS 146, discounted liabilities for future lease costs and the fair value 
of related subleases of units closed after December 25, 2002 are recorded when the unit is closed. 
All other costs related to the units’ closures, including property taxes and maintenance related costs, are 
expensed as incurred. 

Under either methodology, our most significant estimate included in our accrued exit costs liabilities 
relates to the timing and amount of estimated subleases. At December 29, 2004, our total discounted lia-
bility for closed units was approximately $9.8 million, net of discounted actual subleases of $7.0 million and 
discounted estimated subleases of $1.6 million. If any of the estimates noted above or their related 
assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record additional exit costs or reduce exit costs 
previously recorded. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements. 
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Implementation of New Accounting Standards 

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation (FIN) 
No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46 
(Revised) (FIN 46-R) to address certain FIN 46 implementation issues. This interpretation clarifies the 
application of Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” for com-
panies that have interests in entities that are Variable Interest Entities (VIE) as defined under FIN 46. 
According to this interpretation, if a company has an interest in a VIE and is at risk for a majority of the 
VIE’s expected losses or receives a majority of the VIE’s expected gains, it shall consolidate the VIE. 
FIN 46-R also requires additional disclosures by primary beneficiaries and other significant variable inter-
est holders. For entities acquired or created before February 1, 2003, this interpretation was effective no 
later than the end of the first interim or reporting period ending after March 15, 2004, except for those 
VIE’s that are considered to be special purpose entities, for which the effective date is no later than the 
end of the first interim or annual reporting period ending after December 15, 2003. For all entities that 
were acquired subsequent to January 31, 2003, this interpretation was effective as of the first interim or 
annual period ending after December 31, 2003. We completed adoption of FIN 46-R during the first 
quarter of 2004. The adoption of FIN 46-R had no effect on our consolidated financial statements. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123 
(Revised) (SFAS 123-R), “Share-Based Payment.” This standard requires expensing of stock options and 
other share-based payments and supersedes SFAS 123 which had allowed companies to choose between 
expensing stock options or showing pro forma disclosure only. This standard is effective for the Company 
as of July 1, 2005 and will apply to all awards granted, modified, cancelled or repurchased after that date. 
The Company is currently evaluating the expected impact that the adoption of SFAS 123R will have on its 
financial condition or results of operations. Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per 
share as if we had accounted for our employee stock options granted under the fair value method of 
SFAS 123 is presented in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements. 

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

Interest Rate Risk 
We have exposure to interest rate risk related to certain instruments entered into for other than trading 
purposes. Specifically, borrowings under the New First Lien Facility bear interest at a variable rate based 
on LIBOR (Adjusted LIBOR rate plus 3.25%) or an alternative base rate (highest of Prime Rate or Federal 
Funds Effective Rate plus 0.5%). Borrowings under the Second Lien Facility bear interest at Adjusted LIBOR 
plus 5.125% or the alternative base rate plus 3.625%. Subsequent to December 29, 2004, we entered into 
an interest rate swap with a notional amount of $75 million to hedge a portion of the cash flows of our 
floating rate term loan debt. Under the terms of the swap, the Company will pay a fixed rate of 3.76% on 
the $75 million notional amount and receive payments from a counterparty based on the 3-month LIBOR 
rate for a term ending on September 30, 2007. The swap effectively increases our ratio of fixed rate debt 
from approximately 38% of total debt to approximately 51%. Based on the levels of borrowings under the 
New Credit Facilities at December 29, 2004, if interest rates changed by 100 basis points, our annual cash 
flow and income before income taxes would change by approximately $2.7 million after considering the 
impact of the interest rate swap. This computation is determined by considering the impact of hypotheti-
cal interest rates on the variable rate portion of the New Credit Facilities at December 29, 2004. However, 
the nature and amount of our borrowings under the New Credit Facilities may vary as a result of future 
business requirements, market conditions and other factors. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
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Our other outstanding long-term debt bears fixed rates of interest. The estimated fair value of our 
fixed rate long-term debt (excluding capital leases) was approximately $189.3 million at December 29, 
2004. This computation is based on market quotations for the same or similar debt issues or the estimated 
borrowing rates available to us. The difference between the estimated fair value of long-term debt com-
pared with its historical cost reported in our consolidated balance sheets at December 29, 2004 relates 
primarily to market quotations for our 10% Notes. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements. 

We also have exposure to interest rate risk related to our pension plan, other defined benefit plans, and 
self-insurance liabilities. A 25 basis point increase in discount rate would reduce our projected benefit obli-
gation related to our pension plan and other defined benefit plans by $2.0 million and $0.2 million, respec-
tively, and reduce our net periodic benefit cost related to our pension plan by $0.1 million. A 25 basis point 
decrease in discount rate would increase our projected benefit obligation related to our pension plan and 
other defined benefit plans by $2.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively. The impact of a 25 basis point 
increase or decrease in discount rate on periodic benefit costs related to our other defined benefit plans 
and would be less than $0.1 million. A 25 basis point increase or decrease in discount rate related to our 
self-insurance liabilities would result in a decrease or increase of $0.2 million, respectively. 

Commodity Price Risk 
We purchase certain food products such as beef, poultry, pork, eggs and coffee, and utilities such as gas 
and electricity, which are affected by commodity pricing and are, therefore, subject to price volatility 
caused by weather, production problems, delivery difficulties and other factors that are outside our con-
trol and which are generally unpredictable. Changes in commodity prices affect us and our competitors 
generally and often simultaneously. In general, we purchase food products and utilities based upon mar-
ket prices established with vendors. Although many of the items purchased are subject to changes in 
commodity prices, approximately 50% of our purchasing arrangements are structured to contain features 
that minimize price volatility by establishing price ceilings and/or floors. We use these types of purchase 
arrangements to control costs as an alternative to using financial instruments to hedge commodity prices. 
In many cases, we believe we will be able to address commodity cost increases which are significant and 
appear to be long-term in nature by adjusting our menu pricing or changing our product delivery strat-
egy. However, competitive circumstances could limit such actions and, in those circumstances, increases 
in commodity prices could lower our margins. Because of the often short-term nature of commodity pric-
ing aberrations and our ability to change menu pricing or product delivery strategies in response to 
commodity price increases, we believe that the impact of commodity price risk is not significant. 

We have established a policy to identify, control and manage market risks which may arise from 
changes in interest rates, commodity prices and other relevant rates and prices. We do not use derivative 
instruments for trading purposes, and no interest rate or other financial derivatives were in place 
at December 29, 2004. As discussed above, we entered into an interest rate swap subsequent to 
December 29, 2004 to increase our ratio of fixed rate debt to total debt. 

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk   (continued)
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A. Disclosure Controls and Procedures. As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended, our management conducted an evaluation (under the supervision and with the par-
ticipation of our President and Chief Executive Officer, Nelson J. Marchioli, and our Senior Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer, Andrew F. Green) as of the end of the period covered by this report, of the 
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). In performing this evaluation, man-
agement reviewed the Company’s lease accounting and leasehold depreciation practices. As a result of 
this review, management concluded that the Company’s previously established lease accounting and 
leasehold depreciation practices were not appropriate under U.S. generally accepted accounting princi-
ples and determined that the Company’s depreciation expense in prior periods had been understated. 
Accordingly, as described below, the Company determined to restate certain of its previously issued 
financial statements to reflect the correction of these errors in the Company’s lease and depreciation 
accounting. These errors were attributed to deficiencies in the Company’s controls relative to the selec-
tion, monitoring and review of assumptions and factors affecting lease accounting and leasehold 
improvement depreciation practices as of December 29, 2004 resulting from an error in the Company’s 
interpretation of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, similar to other restaurant and retail 
companies. Based on the aforementioned evaluation, Messrs. Marchioli and Green each concluded that 
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 29, 2004. 

B. Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Management of the Company is 
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such 
term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). The Company’s internal control system is designed to 
provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors regarding the prep-
aration and fair presentation of published financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal 
control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evalua-
tion of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate. 

Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 29, 2004. Management’s assessment was based on criteria set forth in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). 

In performing this assessment, management reviewed the Company’s lease accounting and leasehold 
improvement depreciation practices. As a result of this review, management concluded that the Compa-
ny’s controls over the selection, monitoring and review of assumptions and factors affecting lease account-
ing and leasehold improvement depreciation practices were ineffective as of December 29, 2004 due to 
an error in the Company’s interpretation of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. As a result, 
annual depreciation expense in prior periods had been understated. On February 14, 2005, the Company 
determined that it was appropriate to restate certain of its previously issued financial statements to reflect 
the correction of these errors in the Company’s lease and depreciation accounting. 
Management evaluated the impact of this restatement on the Company’s assessment of internal control 
over financial reporting and concluded that the control deficiency that resulted in incorrect lease and 
depreciation accounting represented a material weakness as of December 29, 2004. 

Controls and Procedures
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Controls and Procedures  (continued)

A material weakness in internal control over financial reporting is a control deficiency (within the 
meaning of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board’s (“PCAOB”) Auditing Standard No. 2), or 
combination of control deficiencies, that results in there being more than a remote likelihood that a 
material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. 
PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2 identifies a number of circumstances that, because of their likely sig-
nificant negative effect on internal control over financial reporting, are to be regarded as at least signifi-
cant deficiencies, as well as strong indicators of a material weakness, including the restatement of 
previously issued financial statements to reflect the correction of a misstatement. As a result of the mate-
rial weakness related to the Company’s lease and depreciation accounting, management has concluded 
that, as of December 29, 2004, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective 
based on the criteria set forth in the COSO framework. 

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has issued an audit report 
on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, which follows 
this report. 

C. Remediation of Material Weakness. To remediate the material weakness in the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting, subsequent to year end the Company has implemented additional review 
procedures over the selection and monitoring of appropriate assumptions and factors affecting lease 
accounting and leasehold depreciation practices. No other material weaknesses were identified as a result 
of management’s assessment. 

D. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There have been no changes in the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that occurred during the Company’s last fiscal 
quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting.
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The Board of Directors 
Denny’s Corporation: 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Denny’s Corporation’s (the Company) internal control over 
financial reporting was not effective as of December 29, 2004 because of the material weakness in internal 
controls over the selection, monitoring and review of assumptions and factors affecting lease accounting 
and leasehold improvement depreciation practices, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis-
sion (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effective-
ness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Over-
sight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial report-
ing, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authoriza-
tions of management and directors of the company and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding pre-
vention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

(continued)
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Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms   (continued)

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more 
than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not 
be prevented or detected. The following material weakness has been identified and included in manage-
ment’s assessment as of December 29, 2004: Management identified deficiencies in the Company’s inter-
nal control over financial reporting regarding the selection, monitoring and review of assumptions and 
factors affecting lease accounting and leasehold improvement depreciation practices, due to an error in 
the Company’s interpretation of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. As a result of these defi-
ciencies in the Company’s internal control, accounting errors in certain prior and current period financial 
statements were identified, resulting in the restatement of prior period financial statements. We also have 
audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Denny’s Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 29, 
2004 and December 31, 2003 and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ deficit 
and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for the years then ended. This material weakness was 
considered in determining the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures applied in our audit of the 
2004 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 14, 2005, 
which expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Denny’s Corporation did not maintain effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also, in our opinion, because of the effect of the material 
weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, Denny’s Corpora-
tion has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2004, based 
on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 

KPMG LLP 

Greenville, South Carolina 
March 14, 2005 
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The Board of Directors 
Denny’s Corporation: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Denny’s Corporation and subsidiaries 
as of December 29, 2004 and December 31, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
shareholders’ deficit and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for the fiscal years then ended. 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Over-
sight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by man-
agement, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Denny’s Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 29, 2004 and 
December 31, 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the fiscal years then ended, 
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has restated its 2003 
consolidated financial statements. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 29, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated 
March 14, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and an adverse opinion 
on the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting. 

KPMG LLP 

Greenville, South Carolina 
March 14, 2005 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms
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Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms 

    

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Denny’s Corporation 
Spartanburg, South Carolina 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of operations of Denny’s Corporation and 
subsidiaries (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 25, 2002, and the related consolidated 
statements of shareholders’ deficit and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by man-
agement, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the results 
of the Company’s operations and cash flows for the fiscal year ended December 25, 2002, in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company changed its 
method of accounting for goodwill (including reorganization value) and other intangible assets to conform 
to Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” 

Also, as discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the accompanying 2002 
consolidated financial statements have been restated. 

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

Greenville, South Carolina 
February 7, 2003 (March 14, 2005 as to the effects of the restatement discussed in Note 2)



(In thousands)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31, 

2003 

(Restated)
ASSETS
Current assets:   
 Cash and cash equivalents $  15,561 $   7,363
 Receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts of:
  2004—$801; 2003—$1,706 12,375 9,771
 Inventories 8,289 8,158
 Prepaid and other  7,330 6,326 

Total current assets  43,555 31,618 

Property, net 285,401 293,161
Other assets:   
 Goodwill 50,186 50,186
 Intangible assets, net 77,484 83,879
 Deferred financing costs, net 19,108 9,887
 Other  24,759 27,840 

Total assets  $ 500,493 $ 496,571 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:   
 Current maturities of notes and debentures $   1,975 $  51,714
 Current maturities of capital lease obligations 3,396 3,462
 Accounts payable 42,647 40,617
 Other  88,226 96,294 

Total current liabilities  136,244 192,087 

Long-term liabilities:   
 Notes and debentures, less current maturities 519,236 509,593
 Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 28,149 28,728
 Liability for insurance claims, less current portion 28,108 26,885
 Other noncurrent liabilities and deferred credits  54,186 58,622 

Total long-term liabilities  629,679 623,828 

Total liabilities  765,923 815,915 

Commitments and contingencies   

SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT  
Common stock:   
 $0.01 par value; shares authorized—100,000; issued and outstanding: 
  2004—89,987; 2003—41,003 900 410
Paid-in capital 510,686 417,816
Deficit (757,303) (719,628)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (19,713) (17,942)

Total shareholders’ deficit  (265,430) (319,344)

Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficit  $ 500,493 $ 496,571 

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Fiscal Year Ended  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003  
December 25,

2002 

(Restated) (Restated)
Revenue:    
 Company restaurant sales $871,248 $851,853 $858,569
 Franchise and license revenue  88,758 89,092 90,015 

  Total operating revenue  960,006 940,945 948,584 

Costs of company restaurant sales:    
 Product costs 225,200 219,193 205,036
 Payroll and benefits 362,450 369,941 361,483
 Occupancy 49,581 49,033 49,198
 Other operating expenses  117,834 118,563 122,491 

  Total costs of company restaurant sales 755,065 756,730 738,208
Costs of franchise and license revenue 28,196 27,125 28,908
General and administrative expenses 66,922 51,268 50,001
Depreciation and other amortization 56,649 61,037 84,103
Restructuring charges and exit costs 495 613 3,521
Impairment charges 1,130 3,986 4,556
Gains on disposition of assets and other, net  (2,271) (5,844) (9,127)

  Total operating costs and expenses  906,186 894,915 900,170 

Operating income  53,820 46,030 48,414 

Other expenses:    
 Interest expense, net 69,428 78,190 76,401
 Other nonoperating expense (income), net  21,265 901 (32,915)

  Total other expenses, net  90,693 79,091 43,486 

Income (loss) before income taxes (36,873) (33,061) 4,928
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes  802 759 (1,422)

Income (loss) from continuing operations (37,675) (33,820) 6,350
Discontinued operations:    
 Income from operations of discontinued operations, 
  net of income tax benefit—$3,500 — — 4,040
 Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, 
  net of income tax provision—$160  — — 56,562 

Net income (loss)  $ (37,675) $ (33,820) $  66,952 

Basic earnings per share:    
 Income (loss) from continuing operations $   (0.58) $   (0.83) $    0.16
 Discontinued operations, net  — — 1.50 

 Net income (loss)  $   (0.58) $   (0.83) $    1.66 

Diluted earnings per share:    
 Income (loss) from continuing operations $   (0.58) $   (0.83) $    0.16
 Discontinued operations, net  — — 1.49 

 Net income (loss)  $   (0.58) $   (0.83) $    1.65 

Weighted-average and equivalent shares outstanding:    

 Basic  64,708 40,687 40,270 

 Diluted  64,708 40,687 40,583 

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Statements of Operations
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Fiscal Year Ended  

(In thousands)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003 
December 25,

2002 

  (Restated) (Restated)
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net income (loss) $ (37,675) $(33,820) $ 66,952
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash flows 
 from operating activities:    
  Depreciation and other amortization 56,649 61,037 84,103
  Impairment charges 1,130 3,986 4,556
  Restructuring charges and exit costs 495 613 3,521
  Amortization of deferred gains — (2,644) (7,551)
  Amortization of deferred financing costs 5,539 5,390 4,551
  Gains on disposition of assets and other, net (2,271) (5,844) (9,127)
  Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net — — (56,562)
  Income from discontinued operations, net — — (4,040)
  Amortization of debt premium (1,369) (1,652) (1,795)
  (Gain) loss on early extinguishment of debt 21,744 1,192 (32,900)
  Stock option expense 3,098 — —
   Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects 

 of acquisitions and dispositions:    
    Decrease (increase) in assets:    
     Receivables (1,442) 2,865 (4,903)
     Inventories (131) (443) 848
     Other current assets (1,008) 1,458 838
     Other assets (1,890) (1,632) (1,207)
    Increase (decrease) in liabilities:    
     Accounts payable 803 (3,498) (3,156)
     Accrued salaries and vacations 12,098 2,775 (7,701)
     Accrued taxes (1,275) 1,335 1,226
     Other accrued liabilities (19,565) (2,134) (16,515)
     Other noncurrent liabilities and deferred credits  (4,861) (2,376) (12,317)

Net cash flows provided by operating activities  30,069 26,608 8,821 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  (continued)
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  (continued)

Fiscal Year Ended  

(In thousands)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003 
December 25,

2002 

  (Restated) (Restated)
Cash flows from investing activities:    
 Purchase of property $ (36,130) $(32,025) $(41,689)
 Proceeds from disposition of property 3,584 18,076 17,167
 Receipts from discontinued operations, net — — 39,386
 Refund of deposits securing FRD letters of credit  384 — 4,083 

Net cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities  (32,162) (13,949) 18,947 

Cash flows from financing activities:    
 Net borrowings (repayments) under credit agreement 293,900 4,400 (12,000)
 Deferred financing costs paid (19,216) (3,256) (8,670)
 Long-term debt payments (503,850) (7,413) (5,189)
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options 467 — 35
 Proceeds from equity issuance, net 89,795 — —
 Proceeds from debt issuance 175,000 — —
 Debt prepayment and other transaction costs (24,665) — —
 Net change in bank overdrafts  (1,140) (4,744) (2,923)

Net cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities  10,291 (11,013) (28,747)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,198 1,646 (979)
Cash and cash equivalents at:    
 Beginning of year  7,363 5,717 6,696 

 End of year  $  15,561 $  7,363 $  5,717 

Supplemental cash flow information:    
 Income taxes paid (refunds received), net  $   1,412 $    627 $  (2,397)

 Interest paid  $  81,072 $ 71,370 $ 76,992 

Noncash investing activities:    
 Notes received related to refranchising and sale 
  of properties  $      — $     — $   382 

 Notes forgiven related to reacquisition of restaurants  $      — $   366 $   186 

 Other investing activities  $   3,833 $  1,467 $  3,267 

Noncash financing activities:    
 Issuance of shares pursuant to compensation plans  $      — $    408 $     89 

 Execution of capital leases  $   3,484 $  1,384 $  1,176 

 Other financing activities  $     150 $     — $     — 

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Deficit and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Common Stock Paid-in
Capital Deficit 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss) 

Total
Shareholders’

Deficit(In thousands)  Shares  Amount 

Balance, December 26, 2001, 
 as previously reported 40,143 $401 $417,293 $(749,869) $ (7,582) $(339,757)
Cumulative effect on prior 
 years of restatement  — — — (2,891) — (2,891)

Balance, December 26, 2001 (restated) 40,143 401 417,293 (752,760) (7,582) (342,648)
 Comprehensive income (loss):       
  Net income (restated) — — — 66,952 — 66,952
   Other comprehensive 

 income (loss):        
     Foreign currency 

 translation adjustments — — — — 176 176 
     Additional minimum 

 pension liability  — — — — (7,570) (7,570)

  Comprehensive income (loss) 
 (restated) — — — 66,952 (7,394) 59,558 

 Issuance of common stock 106 2 87 — — 89 
  Exercise of common 

 stock options  41 — 35 — — 35 

Balance, December 25, 2002 (restated)  40,290 403 417,415 (685,808) (14,976) (282,966)

 Comprehensive loss:        
  Net loss (restated) — — — (33,820) — (33,820)
  Other comprehensive loss:        
    Additional minimum 

 pension liability  — — — — (2,966) (2,966)

 Comprehensive loss (restated) — — — (33,820) (2,966) (36,786)
 Issuance of common stock  713 7 401 — — 408 

Balance, December 31, 2003 (restated)  41,003 410 417,816 (719,628) (17,942) (319,344)

 Comprehensive loss:        
  Net loss — — — (37,675) — (37,675)
  Other comprehensive loss:       
    Additional minimum 

 pension liability  — — — — (1,771) (1,771)

 Comprehensive loss — — — (37,675) (1,771) (39,446)
 Stock option expense — — 3,098 — — 3,098
  Issuance of common stock, 

 net of issuance costs of 
 $2.2 million 48,430 484 89,311 — — 89,795

 Exercise of common stock options  554 6 461 — — 467 

Balance, December 29, 2004  89,987 $900 $510,686 $(757,303) $(19,713) $(265,430)

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 1. Introduction and Basis of Reporting

Denny’s Corporation, or Denny’s, is America’s largest family-style restaurant chain in terms of market share 
and number of units. At December 29, 2004, the Denny’s brand consisted of 1,603 restaurants, 553 of 
which are company-owned and operated and 1,050 of which are franchised/licensed restaurants. These 
Denny’s restaurants operated in 49 states, the District of Columbia, two U.S. territories and four foreign 
countries, with principal concentrations in California, Florida and Texas. 

We also owned and operated the Coco’s and Carrows restaurant chains through our wholly-owned 
subsidiary, FRD Acquisition Co., or FRD, through July 10, 2002. On July 10, 2002, we completed the dives-
titure of FRD. We have accounted for FRD as a discontinued operation in our consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, or APB 30, “Reporting the Results 
of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual 
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.” See Note 15. 

With the completion of the FRD divestiture, our predecessor, Advantica Restaurant Group, Inc., or 
Advantica, completed its transition from a restaurant holding company to a one-brand entity; accordingly, 
on July 10, 2002, we changed our name to Denny’s Corporation. 

NOTE 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Restatement of Prior Financial Information. Denny’s has corrected its accounting treatment for leasehold 
improvements through the restatement of previously issued financial statements. Historically, when 
accounting for leases with renewal terms, we have consistently followed the practice of using the initial 
lease term for determining whether a lease was a capital lease or operating lease, calculating straight-line 
rent and calculating depreciation on leased buildings and leasehold improvements added at lease incep-
tion; however, leased buildings and leasehold improvements on leased properties added after lease 
inception have been depreciated over a period that, in some cases, included both the initial non-cancelable 
term of the lease and additional option periods provided for in the lease, or the useful lives of the assets, 
if shorter. 

We determined that we should: i) conform the depreciable lives for buildings on leased land and other 
leasehold improvements to the shorter of the economic life of the asset or the lease term used for deter-
mining the capital versus operating lease classification and calculating straight-line rent, and ii) include 
option periods in the depreciable lives assigned to leased buildings and leasehold improvements (includ-
ing those added after lease inception) only in instances in the which the exercise of the option period can 
be reasonably assured (the “Accounting Treatment”). 

The cumulative balance sheet effect of the restatement related to the Accounting Treatment was an 
increase in accumulated depreciation of $3.8 million as of December 31, 2003 relating to fiscal years 1998 
through 2003. Of this amount, $1.0 million and $0.9 million was recorded as additional depreciation and 
amortization expense for fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

We also determined it was appropriate to record additional adjustments related to fiscal years 1998 
through 2003 which previously were deemed immaterial and now are being recorded as a result of our 
restatement. The cumulative balance sheet effects of these adjustments as of December 31, 2003 consist 
of a decrease in goodwill of $0.2 million, an increase in other long-term assets of $0.9 million, an increase 
in liability for insurance claims of $1.3 million and an increase in other noncurrent liabilities and deferred 
credits of $2.0 million. Of these amounts, $1.3 million was recorded as additional payroll and benefits 
expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 and $0.3 million was recorded as additional costs of 
franchise and license revenue for the year ended December 25, 2002. 

The impact of the restatement in the fourth quarter of 2003 is to increase the net loss by $2.3 million. 
The effect of the restatement to all other previously reported interim periods of 2003 and 2004 is not 
material. The restatement had no impact on previously reported cash flows from operating activities, 
investing activities or financing activities as reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)

The impacts of these restatements on the consolidated financial statements are summarized below:

Consolidated Statements of Operations as Restated

Fiscal Year Ended 
December 31, 2003

Fiscal Year Ended 
December 25, 2002

(In thousands, except per share data)   

As
Previously
Reported  

Adjust-
ments  Restated  

As
Previously
Reported  

Adjust-
ments  Restated  

Revenue:       
 Company restaurant sales $851,853 $    — $851,853 $858,569 $    — $858,569
 Franchise and license revenue  89,092   89,092 90,015   90,015 

  Total operating revenue  940,945   940,945 948,584   948,584 

Costs of company restaurant sales:       
 Product costs 219,193  219,193 205,036  205,036
 Payroll and benefits 368,641 1,300 369,941 361,483  361,483
 Occupancy 49,033  49,033 49,198  49,198
 Other operating expenses  118,563   118,563 122,491   122,491 

  Total costs of company restaurant sales 755,430 1,300 756,730 738,208  738,208
Costs of franchise and license revenue 27,125  27,125 28,576 332 28,908
General and administrative expenses 51,268  51,268 50,001  50,001
Depreciation and other amortization 60,000 1,037 61,037 83,251 852 84,103
Restructuring charges and exit costs 613  613 3,521  3,521
Impairment charges 3,986  3,986 4,556  4,556
Gains on disposition of assets and other, net  (5,844)    (5,844) (9,127)   (9,127)

  Total operating costs and expenses  892,578 2,337 894,915 898,986 1,184 900,170 

Operating income  48,367 (2,337) 46,030 49,598  (1,184) 48,414 

Other expenses:       
 Interest expense, net 78,190  78,190 76,401  76,401
 Other nonoperating (income) expense, net  901   901 (32,915)   (32,915)

  Total other expenses, net  79,091   79,091 43,486   43,486 

Income (loss) before income taxes (30,724) (2,337) (33,061) 6,112 (1,184) 4,928
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes  759   759 (1,422)   (1,422)

Income (loss) from continuing operations (31,483) (2,337) (33,820) 7,534 (1,184) 6,350
Discontinued operations:       
  Income from operations of discontinued 

 operations, net of income tax 
 benefit $3,500 —  — 4,040  4,040

  Gain on disposal of discontinued 
 operations, net of income tax 
 provision—$160  —   — 56,562   56,562 

Net income (loss)  $ (31,483) $ (2,337) $ (33,820) $  68,136 $(1,184) $ 66,952 

Basic earnings per share:       
 Income (loss) from continuing operations $   (0.77)  $   (0.83) $    0.19  $    0.16
 Discontinued operations, net  —   — 1.50   1.50 

 Net income (loss)  $   (0.77)   $   (0.83) $     1.69   $     1.66 

Diluted earnings per share:       
 Income (loss) from continuing operations $   (0.77)  $   (0.83) $    0.19  $    0.16
 Discontinued operations, net  —   — 1.49   1.49 

 Net income (loss)  $   (0.77)   $   (0.83) $    1.68   $    1.65 

Weighted-average and equivalent 
 shares outstanding:       
  Basic  40,687   40,687  40,270   40,270 

  Diluted  40,687   40,687 40,583   40,583 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)

Consolidated Balance Sheet as Restated

December 31, 2003 

(In thousands)  
As Previously

Reported Adjustments  Restated  

ASSETS    
Current assets:    
 Cash and cash equivalents $   7,363 $   — $ 7,363
 Receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,706 9,771  9,771
 Inventories 8,158  8,158
 Prepaid and other  6,326   6,326 

Total current assets  31,618   31,618 

Property, net 296,995 (3,834) 293,161
Other assets:    
 Goodwill 50,404 (218) 50,186
 Intangible assets, net 83,879  83,879
 Deferred financing costs, net 9,887  9,887
 Other  26,907 933 27,840 

Total assets  $ 499,690 $(3,119) $ 496,571 

LIABILITIES    
Current liabilities:    
 Current maturities of notes and debentures $  51,714 $   — $ 51,714
 Current maturities of capital lease obligations 3,462  3,462
 Accounts payable 40,617  40,617
 Other  96,294   96,294 

Total current liabilities  192,087   192,087 

Long-term liabilities:    
 Notes and debentures, less current maturities 509,593  509,593
 Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 28,728  28,728
 Liability for insurance claims 25,585 1,300 26,885
 Other noncurrent liabilities and deferred credits  56,629 1,993 58,622 

Total long-term liabilities  620,535 3,293 623,828 

Total liabilities  812,622 3,293 815,915 

Commitments and contingencies    

SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT    
Common stock: $0.01 par value; shares authorized—100,000;
 issued and outstanding: 2003—41,003 410  410
Paid-in capital 417,816  417,816
Deficit (713,216) (6,412) (719,628)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (17,942)   (17,942)

Total shareholders’ deficit  (312,932) (6,412) (319,344)

Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficit  $ 499,690 $(3,119) $ 496,571 

The following accounting policies significantly affect the preparation of our consolidated financial 
statements: 

Use of Estimates. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and 
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related dis-
closure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates. We base our 
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions; however, we believe that our estimates 
are reasonable. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)

Consolidation Policy. The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of 
Denny’s Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, the most significant of which are Denny’s Hold-
ings, Inc.; Denny’s, Inc. and DFO, Inc. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated in consolidation. 

Fiscal Year. Our fiscal year ends on the Wednesday in December closest to December 31 of each year. 
As a result, a fifty-third week is added to a year every five or six years. Fiscal 2003 includes 53 weeks of 
operations. Fiscal 2004 and 2002 each include 52 weeks of operations. 

Cash Equivalents and Investments. We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity 
of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts. We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses 
resulting from the inability of our franchisees to make required payments for franchise royalties, rent, 
advertising and notes receivable. In assessing recoverability of these receivables, we make judgments 
regarding the financial condition of the franchisees based primarily on past and current payment trends 
and periodic financial information which the franchisees are required to submit to us. 

Inventories. Inventories are valued primarily at the lower of average cost (first-in, first-out) or market. 
Property and Depreciation. We depreciate owned property by the straight-line method over its esti-

mated useful life. We amortize property held under capital leases (at capitalized value) over the lesser of 
its estimated useful life or the initial lease term. In certain situations, one or more option periods may be 
used in determining the depreciable life of certain properties leased under operating lease agreements, 
if we deem that an economic penalty will be incurred and exercise of such option periods is reasonably 
assured. In either circumstance, the Company’s policy requires lease term consistency when calculating 
the depreciation period, in classifying the lease and in computing straight-line rent. The following esti-
mated useful service lives were in effect during all periods presented in the financial statements: 

 Buildings—Five to thirty years 
 Equipment—Two to ten years

  Leasehold Improvements—Estimated useful life limited by the expected lease term, generally 
between five and twenty years. 

Goodwill. Goodwill primarily represents goodwill recognized in accordance with SFAS 141, “Business 
Combinations,” and excess reorganization value recognized in accordance with American Institute of Cer-
tified Public Accountants’ Statement of Position 90-7, or SOP 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in 
Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code,” as a result of our 1998 bankruptcy. Prior to 2002, we amor-
tized goodwill and reorganization value on a straight-line basis over a period of no more than 20 years and 
5 years, respectively; however, such amortization was discontinued at the beginning of fiscal year 2002 in 
accordance with the implementation of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142. 

Other Intangible Assets. Other intangible assets consist primarily of trademarks, trade names, fran-
chise and other operating agreements. Trade names and trademarks are considered indefinite-lived 
intangible assets and are not amortized. Franchise and other operating agreements are amortized on the 
straight-line basis over their useful lives. See Note 3. 

Deferred Financing Costs. Costs related to the issuance of debt are deferred and amortized as a com-
ponent of interest expense using a method that approximates the interest method over the terms of the 
respective debt issuances. 

Cash Overdrafts. We have included in accounts payable on the consolidated balance sheets cash over-
drafts totaling $11.5 million and $12.7 million at December 29, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)

Self-Insurance Liabilities. We record liabilities for insurance claims during periods in which we have 
been insured under large deductible programs or have been self-insured for our medical and dental claims 
and workers’ compensation, general/product and automobile insurance liabilities. Maximum self-insured 
retention, including defense costs per occurrence, ranges from $0.5 to $1.0 million per individual claim for 
workers’ compensation and for general/product and automobile liability. The liabilities for prior and cur-
rent estimated incurred losses are discounted to their present value based on expected loss payment pat-
terns determined by independent actuaries. Total discounted insurance liabilities at December 29, 2004 
and December 31, 2003 were $40.4 million and $38.5 million, respectively, reflecting a 5% discount rate. 
The related undiscounted amounts at such dates were $45.6 million and $43.3 million, respectively. 

Deferred Gains. In 1995, we sold our distribution subsidiary, Proficient Food Company, or PFC. In con-
junction with the sale, we entered into an eight-year distribution contract with the acquirer of PFC. This 
transaction resulted in a deferred gain of approximately $30.0 million that was amortized on a straight-line 
basis through September 2003 as a reduction of product costs. During 1996, we sold Portion-Trol Foods, 
Inc., or PTF, and the Mother Butler Pies division of Denny’s, our two food processing operations. In con-
junction with these sales, we entered into five-year purchasing agreements with the acquirers. These 
transactions resulted in deferred gains totaling approximately $32.4 million that were amortized through 
December 26, 2001. Related to these purchasing agreements, we recognized gains of $2.6 million and 
$3.8 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Total deferred gains were amortized through September 2003, 
and there were no remaining deferred gain balances as of December 31, 2003. 

The purchasing agreement related to Mother Butler Pies expired on July 31, 2001 and the purchasing 
agreement related to PTF expired on December 31, 2001. During 2001, we extended our purchasing 
agreement with PTF through December 31, 2002 in exchange for, among other things, waiving the 
remaining $3.7 million of purchase commitment liabilities of certain discontinued operations related to 
PTF. As a result, the remaining $3.7 million was amortized through December 25, 2002 as a reduction of 
product costs. 

Income Taxes. We record a valuation allowance to reduce our net deferred tax assets to the amount 
that is more likely than not to be realized. While we have primarily considered ongoing, prudent and feasi-
ble tax planning strategies in assessing the need for our valuation allowance, in the event we were to deter-
mine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in an amount in excess of the net 
recorded amount, an adjustment to the valuation allowance (except for the valuation allowance estab-
lished in connection with the adoption of fresh start reporting on January 7, 1998—see Note 9) would 
decrease income tax expense in the period such determination was made. At December 29, 2004 and 
December 31, 2003, a valuation allowance was recorded for all of the Company’s net deferred tax assets. 

Leases. Our policy requires the use of a consistent lease term for i) calculating the maximum depre-
ciation period for related buildings and leasehold improvements; ii) classifying the lease and iii) comput-
ing periodic rent expense increases where the lease terms include escalations in rent over the lease term. 
The lease term commences on the date when we become legally obligated for the rent payments. We 
account for rent escalations in leases on a straight-line basis over the defined lease term. Any rent holi-
days after lease commencement are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, which 
includes the rent holiday period. Leasehold improvements that have been funded by lessors have histori-
cally been insignificant. Any leasehold improvements we make that are funded by lessor incentives or 
allowances under operating leases are recorded as leasehold improvement assets and amortized over 
the lease term. Such incentives are also recorded as deferred rent and amortized as reductions to lease 
expense over the lease term. We record contingent rent expense based on estimated sales for respective 
units over the contingency period. 
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Our significant financial instruments are cash and cash equivalents, 
investments, receivables, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and long-term debt. Except for long-term 
debt, the fair value of these financial instruments approximate their carrying values based on their short 
maturities. See Note 7 for information about the fair value of long-term debt. 

Contingencies and Litigation. We are subject to legal proceedings involving ordinary and routine 
claims incidental to our business as well as legal proceedings that are nonroutine and include compensa-
tory or punitive damage claims. Our ultimate legal and financial liability with respect to such matters can-
not be estimated with certainty and requires the use of estimates in recording liabilities for potential 
litigation settlements. 

Company Restaurant Sales. Company restaurant sales are recognized when food and beverage prod-
ucts are sold at company-owned units. Proceeds from the sale of gift certificates are deferred and recog-
nized as revenue when they are redeemed. 

Franchise and License Fees. We recognize initial franchise and license fees when all of the material 
obligations have been performed and conditions have been satisfied, typically when operations of a new 
franchised restaurant have commenced. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, we recorded initial fees of $1.4 mil-
lion, $1.4 million and $1.9 million, respectively. At December 29, 2004 and December 31, 2003, deferred 
fees were $0.6 million and $1.2 million, respectively. Continuing fees, such as royalties and rents, are 
recorded as income on a monthly basis. For 2004, our ten largest franchisees accounted for approximately 
28.6% of our franchise revenues. 

Advertising Costs. We expense production costs for radio and television advertising in the year in 
which the commercials are initially aired. Advertising expense for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $29.0 million, 
$29.0 million and $35.2 million, respectively, net of contributions from franchisees of $34.2 million, $33.7 
million and $33.2 million, respectively. Advertising costs are recorded as a component of other operating 
expenses in our consolidated statements of operations. 

Restructuring and Exit Costs. Restructuring and exit costs consist primarily of severance and outplace-
ment costs for terminated employees and the costs of future obligations related to closed units or units 
identified for closure. 

In assessing the discounted liabilities for future costs of obligations related to closed units or units 
identified for closure prior to December 26, 2002, the date we adopted SFAS 146, we make assumptions 
regarding the timing of units’ closures, amounts of future subleases, amounts of future property taxes and 
costs of closing the units. 

As a result of the adoption of SFAS 146, discounted liabilities for future lease costs and the fair value of 
related subleases of units closed after December 25, 2002 are recorded when the unit is closed. All other 
costs related to the units closures, including property taxes and maintenance related costs, are expensed 
as incurred. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We assess impairment of long-lived assets such as owned and 
leased property whenever changes or events indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
We assess impairment of restaurant-level assets based on the operating cash flows of the restaurant and 
our plans for restaurant closings. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 144, or SFAS 144, we write down long-lived assets to fair value if, based on an analysis, the sum of the 
expected future undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the assets. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)
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Gains on Sales of Company-Owned Restaurants. We typically do not include real estate in our sales of 
company-owned restaurants; therefore, we recognize gains on sale transactions at the time collection of 
the sales price is reasonably assured. Any gains on sales of company-owned restaurants and surplus prop-
erties that include real estate are recognized when the cash proceeds from the sale exceed the minimum 
requirements (generally 20% of the sale price) as set forth in SFAS 66, “Accounting for Sales of Real 
Estate.” Total proceeds from the sales of company-owned restaurants and surplus properties were $3.6 
million, $18.1 million and $17.5 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Of those amounts, we received 
cash proceeds of $3.6 million, $18.1 million and $17.2 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

Stock Options. We have adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock 
Based Compensation,” while continuing to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, or APB 25, 
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations in accounting for our stock-based 
compensation plans (i.e., the “intrinsic method”). Under APB 25, compensation expense is recognized 
when the exercise price of our employee stock options is less than the market price of the underlying 
stock on the date of grant. See Note 14. 

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense 
over the options’ vesting period. Our pro forma information follows: 

(In millions, except per share data)  2004 2003 2002 

(Restated) (Restated)
Reported net income (loss) $(37.7) $(33.8) $67.0
Stock-based employee compensation expense included 
 in reported net income (loss) 6.5 0.3 —
Less total stock-based compensation expense determined under 
 fair value based method, net of related tax effects  (9.9) (1.7) (1.9)

Pro forma net income (loss)  $(41.1) $(35.2) $65.1 

Basic:    
 As reported $(0.58) $(0.83) $1.66
 Pro forma (0.63) (0.86) 1.62
Diluted:    
 As reported (0.58) (0.83) 1.65
 Pro forma (0.63) (0.86) 1.61

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS 123 and has 
been determined as if we had accounted for our employee stock options granted under the fair value 
method of that statement. The fair value of the stock options granted in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was esti-
mated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. We used the following weighted- 
average assumptions for the grants: 
  2004 2003 2002 

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected volatility 0.99 1.00 0.92
Risk-free interest rate 4.3% 4.3% 4.0%
Weighted-average expected life 8.3 years 6.1 years 5.0 years 

Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the 
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per 
share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares and 
common stock equivalents outstanding during the period. See Note 14. 

Reclassification. Certain previously reported amounts have been reclassified to conform with the 
current presentation. 
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New Accounting Standards. In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued 
FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” In December 2003, the 
FASB issued FIN No. 46 (Revised) (FIN 46-R) to address certain FIN 46 implementation issues. This inter-
pretation clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51, “Consolidated Financial 
Statements,” for companies that have interests in entities that are Variable Interest Entities (VIE) as defined 
under FIN 46. According to this interpretation, if a company has an interest in a VIE and is at risk for a 
majority of the VIE’s expected losses or receives a majority of the VIE’s expected gains, it shall consolidate 
the VIE. FIN 46-R also requires additional disclosures by primary beneficiaries and other significant variable 
interest holders. For entities acquired or created before February 1, 2003, this interpretation was effective 
no later than the end of the first interim or reporting period ending after March 15, 2004, except for those 
VIE’s that are considered to be special purpose entities, for which the effective date is no later than the end 
of the first interim or annual reporting period ending after December 15, 2003. For all entities that were 
acquired subsequent to January 31, 2003, this interpretation was effective as of the first interim or annual 
period ending after December 31, 2003. We completed adoption of FIN 46-R during the first quarter of 
2004. The adoption of FIN 46-R had no effect on our consolidated financial statements. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123 
(Revised) (SFAS 123-R), “Share-Based Payment.” This standard requires expensing of stock options and 
other share-based payments and supersedes SFAS 123 which had allowed companies to choose between 
expensing stock options or showing pro forma disclosure only. This standard is effective for the Company 
as of July 1, 2005 and will apply to all awards granted, modified, cancelled or repurchased after that date. 
The Company is currently evaluating the expected impact that the adoption of SFAS 123R will have on 
its financial condition or results of operations. The pro forma net income (loss) and related per share 
amounts are presented in Stock Options above as though the Company had applied SFAS 123 in 2004, 
2003 and 2002. 

NOTE 3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

The following table reflects goodwill and intangible assets as reported at December 29, 2004 and at 
December 31, 2003:

December 29, 2004  December 31, 2003 

(In thousands)  

Gross
Carrying
Amount 

Accumulated
Amortization 

Gross
Carrying
Amount 

Accumulated
Amortization

Goodwill (restated for 2003)  $ 50,186 $    — $ 50,186 $    —

Intangible assets with indefinite lives:     
 Trade names $ 42,323 $    — $ 42,323 $    —
 Liquor licenses 356 — 356 —
Intangible assets with definite lives:     
 Franchise agreements 69,968 35,547 72,820 32,203
 Foreign license agreements  1,780 1,396 1,780 1,197

  $114,427 $36,943 $117,279 $33,400

Estimated amortization expense for intangible assets with definite lives in the next five years is 
as follows: 

 (In thousands) 

2005 $5,111
2006 4,832
2007 4,450
2008 3,830
2009 3,480
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Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairment at least annually, 
and more frequently if circumstances indicate that they may be impaired. We performed an annual impair-
ment test as of December 29, 2004 and determined that none of the recorded goodwill or other intangible 
assets with indefinite lives was impaired. 

NOTE 4. Restructuring Charges and Exit Costs 

As a result of changes in our organizational structure and in our portfolio of restaurants, we have recorded 
charges for restructuring and exit costs. These costs consist primarily of severance and outplacement 
costs for terminated employees and the costs of future obligations related to closed units. 

In assessing the discounted liabilities for future costs related to units closed or identified for closure 
prior to December 26, 2002, the date we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, 
“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” or SFAS 146, we make assumptions 
regarding the timing of unit closures, amounts of future subleases, amounts of future property taxes and 
costs of closing the units. If these assumptions or their related estimates change in the future, we may be 
required to record additional exit costs or reduce exit costs previously recorded. Exit costs recorded for 
each of the periods presented include the effect of such changes in estimates. 

As a result of the adoption of SFAS 146, discounted liabilities for future lease costs and the fair value of 
related subleases of units closed after December 25, 2002 are recorded when the unit is closed. All other 
costs related to unit closures, including property taxes and maintenance related costs, are expensed 
as incurred. 

Restructuring charges and exit costs were comprised of the following: 

(In thousands)  2004 2003 2002

Exit costs $213 $(1,543) $3,271
Severance and other restructuring charges  $282 $  2,156 $   250

 Total restructuring charges and exit costs  $495 $  613 $3,521

Exit costs recorded in 2004 primarily resulted from the closing of six underperforming units. 
Exit costs recorded in 2003 primarily resulted from the reversal of approximately $1.6 million of exit 

costs recorded after we entered into a settlement agreement on the lease for our former corporate head-
quarters. Severance and other restructuring costs in 2003 relate to the elimination of approximately sixty 
out-of-restaurant support staff positions, all of which occurred during the fourth quarter of 2003. 

Exit costs recorded in 2002 consist of approximately $0.9 million related to the closure of underper-
forming units and $2.4 million related to remaining lease obligations on Denny’s former corporate head-
quarters facility due to the bankruptcy of a significant subtenant. Restructuring costs in 2002 relate to the 
elimination of thirty-three out-of-restaurant support staff positions. See Note 15. 

The components of the change in accrued exit cost liabilities are as follows: 

(In thousands) 2004 2003 

Beginning balance $13,044 $19,680
Provisions for units closed during the year 405 228
Reversals of accrued exit costs, net (192) (1,771)
Payments, net (4,689) (6,883)
Interest accretion (included in interest expense) 1,273 1,790 

Ending balance $ 9,841 $13,044 
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Estimated cash payments related to exit cost liabilities in the next five years are as follows: 

 (In thousands)

2005 $ 2,267
2006 1,758
2007 1,459
2008 1,406
2009 1,382
Thereafter 7,077

 Total 15,349
Less imputed interest 5,508

Present value of exit cost liabilities $ 9,841

The present value of exit cost liabilities is net of discounted sublease rental income of $7.0 million relat-
ing to existing sublease arrangements and discounted estimated subleases of $1.6 million. See Note 8 for 
a schedule of future minimum lease commitments and amounts to be received as lessor or sub-lessor for 
both open and closed units. 

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, we recorded severance and outplacement costs related to restructuring 
plans of $2.7 million. Through December 29, 2004, approximately $2.6 million of these costs have been 
paid, of which $1.3 million was paid during the year ended December 29, 2004. The remaining balance of 
severance and placement costs of $0.1 million is expected to be paid during 2005. 

NOTE 5. Property, Net 

Property, net, consists of the following: 

(In thousands)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003

(Restated)
Land $  57,512 $ 58,085
Buildings and improvements 415,791 401,184
Other property and equipment  126,053 118,530

Total property owned 599,356 577,799
Less accumulated depreciation  330,915 301,714

Property owned, net  268,441 276,085

Buildings and improvements, vehicles, and other equipment held 
 under capital leases 36,347 41,487
Less accumulated amortization  19,387 24,411

Property held under capital leases, net  16,960 17,076

  $285,401 $293,161

Subtantially all owned property is pledged as collateral for the New Credit Facilities. See Note 7. 

NOTE 6. Other Current Liabilities 

Other current liabilities consist of the following: 

(In thousands)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003

Accrued salaries and vacations $36,929 $24,831
Accrued insurance, primarily current portion of liability for insurance claims 15,278 17,934
Accrued taxes 10,761 12,035
Accrued interest 5,848 23,469
Other  19,410 18,025

  $88,226 $96,294

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)
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NOTE 7. Debt and Liquidity 

Long-term debt consists of the following: 

(In thousands)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003

Notes and Debentures:   
 10% Senior Notes due October 1, 2012, interest payable semi-annually $175,000 $     —
 11¼% Senior Notes due January 15, 2008, interest payable semi-annually — 378,970
 12¾% Senior Notes due September 30, 2007, interest payable semi-annually — 120,389
 New Credit Facilities:   
  New First Lien Facility:   
   Revolver Loans outstanding due September 30, 2008 — —
   Term Loans due September 30, 2009 225,000 —
  Second Lien Facility Term Loans due September 30, 2010 120,000 —
Old Credit Facility:   
  11.0% Term Loans — 40,000
  Revolving Loans outstanding with an interest rate of 6.7% — 11,100
Other note payable, maturing January 1, 2013, payable in monthly installments 
 with an interest rate of 9.17%(a) 542 586
Notes payable secured by equipment, maturing over various terms up to 
 5 years, payable in monthly and quarterly installments with interest rates 
 ranging from 9.0% to 11.97%(b) 669 1,243
Capital lease obligations (see Note 8)  31,545 32,190

 552,756 584,478
Premium on 11¼% Senior Notes(c)  — 9,019

 Total debt 552,756 593,497
Less current maturities  5,371 55,176

 Total long-term debt  $547,385 $538,321

(a) Includes a note collateralized by a restaurant with a net book value of $0.3 million at December 29, 2004. 
(b) Includes notes collateralized by equipment with a net book value of $0.4 million at December 29, 2004. 
(c)  Upon emergence from bankruptcy on January 7, 1998, we adopted fresh start reporting in accordance with SOP 90-7 

and adjusted our liabilities to their fair values, which resulted in our recording premiums or discounts related to our long-
term notes.

Aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt, excluding capital lease obligations (see Note 8), at 
December 29, 2004 are as follows: 

Year: (In thousands)

2005 $  1,975
2006 2,433
2007 2,452
2008 2,970
2009 216,124
Thereafter 295,257

 $521,211

We believe that our estimated cash flows from operations for 2005, combined with our capacity for 
additional borrowings under the New Credit Facilities, will enable us to meet our anticipated cash require-
ments and fund capital expenditures through the end of 2005. 

For the year ended December 29, 2004, we recorded $21.7 million of losses on early extinguishment of 
debt which primarily represent the payment of premiums and expenses as well as write-offs of deferred 
financing costs and debt premiums associated with the repurchase of the previously outstanding 11¼% 
senior notes and the 12¾% senior notes and the termination of the Old Credit Facility. These losses are 
included as a component of other nonoperating expense (income), net in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of operations. 
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Credit Facilities 
On September 21, 2004, our subsidiaries, Denny’s, Inc. and Denny’s Realty, Inc. (the “Borrowers”), entered 
into new senior secured credit facilities in an aggregate principal amount of $420 million. The new credit 
facilities consist of a first lien facility and a second lien facility. The new first lien facility consists of a $225 
million five-year term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) and a $75 million four-year revolving credit 
facility, of which $45 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit (the “Revolving Facility” and 
together with the Term Loan Facility, the “New First Lien Facility”). The second lien facility consists of an 
additional $120 million six-year term loan facility (the “Second Lien Facility,” and together with the 
New First Lien Facility, the “Credit Facilities”). The Second Lien Facility ranks pari passu with the New First 
Lien Facility in right of payment, but is in a second lien position with respect to the collateral securing the 
New First Lien Facility. 

The Term Loan Facility will mature on September 30, 2009 and will amortize in equal quarterly install-
ments of $0.6 million (commencing March 31, 2005) with all remaining amounts due on the maturity 
date. The Revolving Facility will mature on September 30, 2008. The Second Lien Facility will mature on 
September 30, 2010 with no amortization of principal prior to the maturity date. 

The interest rates under the New First Lien Facility are as follows: At the option of the Borrowers, 
Adjusted LIBOR plus a spread of 3.25% per annum (3.50% per annum for the Revolving Facility) or ABR (the 
Alternate Base Rate, which is the highest of the Bank of America Prime Rate and the Federal Funds Effec-
tive Rate plus 1/2 of 1%) plus a spread of 1.75% per annum (2.0% per annum for the Revolving Facility). The 
interest rate on the Second Lien Facility, at the Borrower’s option, is Adjusted LIBOR plus a spread of 
5.125% per annum or ABR plus a spread of 3.625% per annum. The weighted-average interest rate under 
the New First Lien Facility and the Second Lien Facility was 5.67% and 7.55%, respectively, as of December 
29, 2004. 

At December 29, 2004, we had outstanding letters of credit of $37.5 million under our Revolving Facility, 
leaving net availability of $37.5 million. There were no revolving loans outstanding at December 29, 2004. 

The Credit Facilities are secured by substantially all of our assets and guaranteed by Denny’s Corpora-
tion, Denny’s Holdings and all of their subsidiaries. The New Credit Facilities contain certain financial 
covenants (i.e., maximum total debt to EBITDA (as defined under the New Credit Facilities) ratio require-
ments, maximum senior secured debt to EBITDA ratio requirements, minimum fixed charge coverage 
ratio requirements and limitations on capital expenditures), negative covenants, conditions precedent, 
material adverse change provisions, events of default and other terms, conditions and provisions custom-
arily found in credit agreements for facilities and transactions of this type. We were in compliance with the 
terms of the credit facility as of December 29, 2004. 

10% Senior Notes Due 2012 
On October 5, 2004, Denny’s Holdings issued $175 million aggregate principal amount of its 10% Senior 
Notes due 2012 (the “10% Notes”). The 10% Notes are irrevocably, fully and unconditionally guaranteed 
on a senior basis by Denny’s Corporation. The 10% Notes are general, unsecured senior obligations of 
Denny’s Holdings, and rank equal in right of payment to all of our existing and future indebtedness and 
other obligations that are not, by their terms, expressly subordinated in right of payment to the 10% 
Notes; rank senior in right of payment to all existing and future subordinated indebtedness and are effec-
tively subordinated to all existing and future secured debt to the extent of the value of the assets securing 
such debt and structurally subordinated to all indebtedness and other liabilities of the subsidiaries of 
Denny’s Holdings, including the Credit Facilities. The 10% Notes bear interest at the rate of 10% per year 
from and including October 5, 2004, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each 
year, commencing on April 1, 2005. The 10% Notes will mature on October 1, 2012. 
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At any time on or after October 1, 2008, Denny’s Holdings may redeem all or a portion of the 10% 
Notes for cash at its option, upon not less than 30 days nor more than 60 days notice to each holder of 
10% Notes, at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the principal amount) if 
redeemed during the 12-month period commencing October 1 of the years indicated below, in each 
case together with accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated damages, if any, thereon to the date of 
redemption of the 10% Notes (the “Redemption Date”): 

Year: Percentage

2008 105.0%
2009 102.5%
2010 and thereafter 100.0%

At any time on or prior to October 1, 2007, upon one or more Qualified Equity Offerings (as defined in 
the indenture governing the 10% Notes (the “Indenture”)) for cash, up to 35% of the aggregate principal 
amount of the Notes issued pursuant to the Indenture may be redeemed at the option of Denny’s Holdings 
within 90 days of such Qualified Equity Offering, on not less than 30 days, but not more than 60 days, notice 
to each holder of the 10% Notes to be redeemed, with cash contributed to Denny’s Holdings from the cash 
proceeds of such Qualified Equity Offering, at a redemption price equal to 110% of the principal amount, 
together with accrued and unpaid interest and Liquidated Damages, if any, thereon to the Redemption 
Date; provided, however, that immediately following such redemption not less than 65% of the aggregate 
principal amount of the 10% Notes originally issued pursuant to the Indenture remain outstanding. 

The Indenture contains certain covenants limiting the ability of Denny’s Holdings and its subsidiaries 
(but not its parent, Denny’s Corporation) to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness (including 
disqualified capital stock); pay dividends or make distributions or certain other restricted payments; make 
certain investments; create liens on our assets to secure debt; enter into sale and leaseback transactions; 
enter into transactions with affiliates; merge or consolidate with another company; sell, lease or otherwise 
dispose of all or substantially all of its assets; enter into new lines of business and guarantee indebtedness. 
These covenants are subject to a number of important limitations and exceptions. 

Denny’s Corporation is a holding company with no operations or assets, other than as related to 
the ownership of the common stock of Denny’s Holdings and its status as a holding company. Denny’s 
Corporation is not subject to the restrictive covenants in the Indenture. Denny’s Holdings is restricted from 
paying dividends and making distributions to Denny’s Corporation under the terms of the Indenture. 

Fair Value of Long-Term Debt 
The estimated fair value of our fixed rate long-term debt (excluding capital lease obligations and revolv-
ing credit facility advances) is approximately $189.3 million at December 29, 2004. The computation is 
based on market quotations for the same or similar debt issues or the estimated borrowing rates available 
to us. The difference between the estimated fair value of long-term debt compared with its historical cost 
reported in our consolidated balance sheets at December 29, 2004 relates primarily to market quotations 
for our 10% Notes. 

NOTE 8. Leases and Related Guarantees 

Our operations utilize property, facilities, equipment and vehicles leased from others. Buildings and facil-
ities are primarily used for restaurants and support facilities. Restaurants are operated under lease 
arrangements which generally provide for a fixed basic rent, and, in some instances, contingent rent based 
on a percentage of gross revenues. Initial terms of land and restaurant building leases generally are not 
less than 15 years exclusive of options to renew. Leases of other equipment primarily consist of restaurant 
equipment, computer systems and vehicles. 
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We lease certain owned and leased property, facilities and equipment to others. Our net investment in 
direct financing leases receivable is as follows: 

(In thousands)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003

Total minimum rents receivable $8,345 $10,101
Less unearned income  5,595 6,962

Net investment in direct financing leases receivable  $2,750 $ 3,139

Minimum future lease commitments and amounts to be received as lessor or sublessor under non-
cancelable leases, including leases for both open and closed units, at December 29, 2004 are as follows:

Commitments Lease Receipts

(In thousands)  Capital Operating 
Direct

Financing Operating

Year:
2005 $ 7,725 $ 46,586 $  616 $ 23,196
2006 7,546 44,122 616 22,888
2007 6,954 40,222 616 22,344
2008 6,012 35,403 616 21,206
2009 5,049 30,599 616 20,492
Thereafter  23,954 118,582 5,265 158,933

 Total  57,240 $315,514 $8,345 $269,059

Less imputed interest  25,695      

Present value of capital lease obligations  $31,545    

The total rental expense included in the determination of income (loss) from continuing operations is 
as follows: 

(In thousands)  2004 2003 2002

Base rents $44,212 $44,505 $44,900
Contingent rents  5,811 6,201 6,336

  $50,023 $50,706 $51,236

Total rental expense in the above table does not reflect sublease rental income of $27.1 million, $28.6 
million and $29.4 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Rent expense is recorded as a component 
of occupancy expense in our consolidated statements of operations. 

NOTE 9. Income Taxes 

A summary of the provision for (benefit from) income taxes attributable to the income (loss) from continuing 
operations is as follows: 

(In thousands)  2004 2003 2002 

Current:    
 Federal $ — $ — $(2,742)
 State, foreign and other  802 759 1,320 

  802 759 (1,422)

Deferred:    
 Federal — — —
 State, foreign and other  — — — 

  — — — 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes—continuing operations  $802 $759 $(1,422)

The total provision for (benefit from) income taxes related to:     
 Income (loss) from continuing operations $802 $759 $(1,422)
 Discontinued operations  — — (3,340)

 Total provision for (benefit from) income taxes  $802 $759 $(4,762)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)
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The following represents the approximate tax effect of each significant type of temporary difference 
giving rise to deferred income tax assets or liabilities from continuing operations: 

(In thousands)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003 

Deferred tax assets:   
 Debt premium $      — $   3,608
 Lease reserves 2,967 2,804
 Self-insurance accruals 16,767 17,010
 Capitalized leases 5,834 6,046
 Closed store reserve 3,937 5,218
 Fixed assets 14,716 12,288
 Pension, other retirement and compensation plans 13,661 8,306
 Other accruals 5,259 7,808
 Capital loss carryforwards 12,700 12,358
 Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 12,028 12,028
 General business credit carryforwards 44,492 44,830
 Net operating loss carryforwards  42,996 28,057 

Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 175,357 160,361
 Less: valuation allowance  (143,289) (126,316)

Deferred tax assets  32,068 34,045 

Deferred tax liabilities:   
 Intangible assets  (32,068) (34,045)

Total deferred tax liabilities  (32,068) (34,045)

Net deferred tax liability  $      — $      — 

We have established a valuation allowance for the portion of the deferred tax assets for which it is 
more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized. In establishing our valuation allowance, we have 
taken into consideration certain tax planning strategies involving the sale of appreciated properties in 
order to alter the timing of the expiration of certain net operating loss, or NOL, carryforwards in the event 
they were to expire unused. Such strategies, if implemented in future periods, are considered by us to be 
prudent and feasible in light of current circumstances. 

Any subsequent reversal of the valuation allowance established in connection with fresh start reporting 
on January 7, 1998 (approximately $55 million at December 29, 2004) would be applied first to reduce 
reorganization value in excess of amounts allocable to identifiable assets, or reorganization value, then to 
reduce other identifiable intangible assets, followed by a credit directly to equity. In 2000, we settled all 
issues related to petitions we filed with the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, to contest federal income tax 
deficiencies. In 2002 computations of the federal income taxes and interest were completed and refunds 
were received related to the IRS settlement, and we recorded an additional reduction in reorganization 
value of $1.2 million in 2002. During 2002 we filed amended federal income tax returns to forgo general 
business credits previously elected, which reduced the amount of general business credit carryforwards 
but increased the NOL carryforwards available to future years. These changes are reflected in the 
valuation allowance. 

The difference between our statutory federal income tax rate and our effective tax rate on income 
(loss) from continuing operations before discontinued operations is as follows: 

  2004 2003 2002 

Statutory tax (benefit) rate (35)% (35)% 35%
Differences:    
 State, foreign and other taxes, net of federal income tax benefit 2 1 20
 Portion of net operating losses, capital losses and unused income tax credits
  resulting from the establishment or reduction in the valuation allowance 40 36 (80)
 Other  (5) — 2 

 Effective tax rate  2% 2% (23)%
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In connection with FRD’s reorganization on July 10, 2002, we realized a gain from the extinguishment of 
certain indebtedness, which is not taxable since it resulted from a reorganization under the bankruptcy 
code. However, we are required to reduce certain tax attributes related to FRD including (1) NOL carry-
forwards, (2) certain tax credits and (3) tax basis in assets in an amount equal to such gain on extinguish-
ment. The NOL carryforwards acquired by Denny’s in May 1996 along with any subsequent NOL’s and 
general business credits that are allocable to FRD or its subsidiaries will either be eliminated due to 
FRD’s reorganization under the bankruptcy code or will no longer be utilizable by Denny’s to reduce 
future taxable income. 

At December 29, 2004, Denny’s has available, on a consolidated basis, general business credit carryfor-
wards of approximately $45 million, most of which expire in 2005 through 2019, and alternative minimum 
tax, or AMT, credit carryforwards of approximately $12 million, which never expire. Denny’s also has avail-
able regular NOL and AMT NOL carryforwards of approximately $123 million and $166 million, respec-
tively, which expire in 2012 through 2024. In addition the Company has capital loss carryforwards available 
of approximately $36 million for regular tax and $55 million for AMT. Denny’s capital loss carryforwards, 
which will expire in 2007, can only be utilized to offset certain capital gains generated by the Company. 
During 2004 and in prior years, Denny’s has had ownership changes within the meaning of Section 382 of 
the Internal Revenue Code. Because of these changes, the amount of Denny’s NOL carryforwards along 
with any other tax carryforward attribute, for periods prior to the dates of change, are limited to an annual 
amount which may be increased by the amount of Denny’s net unrealized built-in gains at the time of any 
ownership change that are recognized in that taxable year. Therefore, some of Denny’s tax attributes 
recorded in the gross deferred tax asset inventory may expire prior to their utilization. A valuation allow-
ance has already been established for a significant portion of these deferred tax assets since it is the 
Company’s position that it is more likely than not that tax benefit will not be realized from these assets. 

On March 9, 2002, President Bush signed into law H.R. 3090, the Job Creation and Worker Assistance 
Act of 2002, or the Act. The Act allowed us to carry back alternative minimum tax, or AMT, net operating 
losses generated during 2001, which resulted in a cash refund of 1998 AMT taxes paid of approximately 
$2.7 million in 2002. 

NOTE 10. Employee Benefit Plans 

We maintain several defined benefit plans for continuing operations which cover a substantial number of 
employees. Benefits are based upon each employee’s years of service and average salary. Our funding 
policy is based on the minimum amount required under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 
1974. The Pension Plan was closed to new participants as of December 31, 1999. Benefits ceased to accrue 
for Pension Plan participants as of December 31, 2004. We also maintain defined contribution plans. 

The components of net pension cost of the pension plan and other defined benefit plans as deter-
mined under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” 
are as follows: 

(In thousands)  2004 2003 2002 

Pension Plan:    
Service cost $ 480 $ 298 $ 267
Interest cost 2,933 2,874 2,805
Expected return on plan assets (2,797) (2,531) (3,064)
Amortization of net loss  801 855 293 

Net periodic benefit cost  $ 1,417 $ 1,496 $ 301 

Other comprehensive loss  $ 1,396 $ 3,053 $ 7,110 

Other Defined Benefit Plans:    
Service cost $ 311 $ 392 $ 336
Interest cost 227 239 239
Recognized net actuarial gain  23 56 15 

Net periodic benefit cost  $ 561 $ 687 $ 590 

Other comprehensive (income) loss  $ 375 $ (87) $ 460 
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Net pension and other defined benefit plan costs charged to continuing operations (including premiums 
paid to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation) for 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $2.0 million, $2.3 million 
and $1.1 million, respectively. 

The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in our balance sheet for our 
pension plan and other defined benefit plans: 

Pension Plan
Other Defined 
Benefit Plans

(In thousands)  
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003 
December 29,

2004 
December 31,

2003 

Change in Benefit Obligation:     
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 50,204 $ 43,602 $ 3,870 $ 3,700
Service cost 480 298 311 392
Interest cost 2,933 2,874 227 239
Actuarial losses (gains) 1,813 5,920 180 (75)
Benefits paid  (2,513) (2,490) (380) (386)

Benefit obligation at end of year  $ 52,917 $ 50,204 $ 4,208 $ 3,870 

Change in Plan Assets:     
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 32,917 $ 30,794 $   — $    —
Actual return on plan assets 2,616 4,613 — —
Employer contributions 3,512 — 380 386
Benefits paid  (2,513) (2,490) (380) (386)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $ 36,532 $ 32,917 $    — $    — 

Reconciliation of Funded Status:     
Funded status $(16,385) $(17,287) $(4,208) $(3,870)
Unrecognized losses  18,794 17,599 919 763 

Net amount recognized  $  2,409 $    312 $(3,289) $(3,107)

Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated 
 Balance Sheet Consist of:     
Accrued benefit liability $(16,385) $(17,086) $(4,208) $(3,651)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  18,794 17,398 919 544 

Net amount recognized  $   2,409 $   312 $(3,289) $(3,107)

Other:     
Accumulated benefit obligation  $ 52,917 $ 50,002 $ 4,208 $ 3,647 

Minimum pension liability adjustments comprise the only components of accumulated other compre-
hensive loss for the years ended December 29, 2004, December 31, 2003 and December 25, 2002, and 
were $1.8 million, $3.0 million and $7.6 million, respectively. 

 Because the Pension Plan was closed to new participants as of December 31, 1999, and benefits ceased 
to accrue for Pension Plan participants as of December 31, 2004, an assumed rate of increase in compen-
sation levels was not applicable for 2004. Weighted-average assumptions used in the actuarial computa-
tions to determine benefit obligations as of December 29, 2004, and December 31, 2003, were as follows: 

  2004 2003 

Discount rate 5.75% 6.00%
Rate of increase in compensation levels N/A 4.00%
Measurement date 12/29/04 12/31/03
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Weighted-average assumptions used in the actuarial computations to determine net periodic pension 
cost for the three years ended December 29, 2004, were as follows: 
  2004 2003 2002 

Discount rate 6.00% 6.75% 6.75%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 8.50% 8.50% 9.50%
Measurement date 12/31/03 12/25/02 12/26/01

In determining the expected long-term rate of return on assets, we evaluated our asset class return 
expectations, as well as long-term historical asset class returns. Projected returns are based on broad 
equity and bond indices. Additionally, we considered our historical 10-year and 15-year compounded 
returns, which have been in excess of our forward-looking return expectations. 

Our pension plan weighted-average asset allocations as a percentage of plan assets as of December 29, 
2004 and December 31, 2003, by asset category, were as follows: 
  2004 2003 

Asset category  
Equity securities 50% 50%
Debt securities  50% 50%

Total  100% 100%

Our investment policy for pension plan assets is to maximize the total rate of return (income and appre-
ciation) with a view to the long-term funding objectives of the pension plans. Therefore, the pension plan 
assets are diversified to the extent necessary to minimize risks and to achieve an optimal balance between 
risk and return and between income and growth of assets through capital appreciation. 

We made $3.5 million of contributions to our qualified pension plans in 2004. No contributions were 
made to our qualified pension plans in 2003. We made contributions of $0.4 million to our other defined 
benefit plans in each of 2004 and 2003. In 2005, we expect to contribute $3.3 million to our qualified pen-
sion plan, and $0.2 million to our other defined benefit plans. Benefits expected to be paid for each of the 
next five years and in the aggregate for the five fiscal years from 2010 through 2014 are as follows: 

(In thousands)  
Pension

Plan 

Other 
Defined

Benefit Plans

2005 $ 2,240 $ 223
2006 2,175 229
2007 2,157 234
2008 2,125 250
2009 2,058 245
2010 through 2014 11,553 1,631

In addition, eligible employees can elect to contribute 1% to 15% of their compensation to 401(k) plans 
or 1% to 50% under other defined contribution plans. Under these plans, we make matching contribu-
tions, subject to certain limitations. Amounts charged to income from continuing operations under these 
plans’ operations were $1.6 million, $1.5 million and $1.4 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively. 



Page 57

G r o w i n g  S t r o n g e r  E v e r y  D a y

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)

NOTE 11. Commitments and Contingencies 

There are various claims and pending legal actions against or indirectly involving us, including actions 
concerned with civil rights of employees and customers, other employment related matters, taxes, sales 
of franchise rights and businesses and other matters. Our ultimate legal and financial liability with respect 
to these matters cannot be estimated with certainty. However, we believe, based on our examination of 
these matters and our experience to date, that the ultimate liability, if any, in excess of amounts already 
provided for these matters in our consolidated financial statements is not likely to have a material effect 
on our results of operations, financial position or cash flows. 

In January 2000, we entered into an agreement with Affiliated Computer Services, Inc., or ACS, to man-
age and operate our information technology for our corporate headquarters, restaurants and field man-
agement. Under the agreement, including expenditures related to FRD, we spent $1.7 million and $7.9 
million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. In August 2002, we brought all services provided by ACS, except 
help desk services, in-house to our corporate headquarters. Our agreement with ACS expired on April 30, 
2003 at which time help desk services were brought in-house to our corporate headquarters. 

NOTE 12. Stock-Based Compensation 

Stock Option Plans 
Pursuant to the plan of reorganization, and shortly after January 7, 1998, we adopted the Advantica 
Restaurant Group Stock Option Plan, or the Non-Officer Plan, and the Advantica Restaurant Group Offi-
cer Stock Option Plan, or the Officer Plan. Effective March 15, 1999, the Non-Officer Plan and the Officer 
Plan were merged together and the surviving plan’s name was changed to the Advantica Stock Option 
Plan. All participants in the Non-Officer Plan and Officer Plan on the effective date of the plan merger 
continued to be participants in the Advantica Stock Option Plan and retained all options previously issued 
to participants under the Officer Plan and the Non-Officer Plan under the same terms and conditions 
existing at the time of grant. 

On March 20, 2002, the Compensation and Incentives Committee of the Board of Directors of Denny’s 
(the “Compensation Committee”) adopted the Denny’s, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan for 
Executives, or the 2002 Omnibus Plan, which later was approved by Denny’s shareholders on May 22, 
2002. The 2002 Omnibus Plan permits the grant of a variety of incentive awards including stock options, 
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units, stock awards, 
cash-based awards and annual incentive awards. 

On August 25, 2004, the stockholders of Denny’s approved the Denny’s Corporation 2004 Omnibus 
Incentive Plan to promote the Company’s success by linking the personal interests of its employees, offi-
cers, directors and consultants to those of the stockholders, and by providing participants with an incen-
tive for performance. The plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors 
or the Board of Directors as a whole. Ten million shares of the Company’s common stock are reserved for 
issuance upon the grant or exercise of awards pursuant to the plan, plus a number of additional shares 
(not to exceed 1,500,000) underlying awards outstanding under the 2002 Omnibus Plan, the Advantica 
Stock Option Plan and the predecessor director plan described below. The plan authorizes the granting 
of incentive awards from time to time to selected employees, officers, directors and consultants of the 
Company and its affiliates. The 2004 Omnibus Plan replaces the 2002 Omnibus Plan, the Advantica Stock 
Option Plan and the predecessor director plan as the vehicle for granting stock based compensation by 
the Company to its employees, officers and directors. However, the Company reserves the right to pay 
discretionary bonuses, or other types of compensation, outside of the 2004 Omnibus Plan. 
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The Compensation Committee, or the Board of Directors as a whole, has sole discretion to determine 
the exercise price, term and vesting schedule of options awarded under such plans. Under the terms of the 
above referenced plans, optionees who terminate for any reason other than cause, disability, retirement or 
death will be allowed 60 days after the termination date to exercise vested options. Vested options are 
exercisable for one year when termination is by a reason of disability, retirement or death. If termination is 
for cause, no option shall be exercisable after the termination date. 

Additionally, under the 2004 Omnibus Plan and a predecessor director plan, directors have been 
granted options under terms which are substantially similar to the terms of the plans noted above. 

Under each plan, options granted to date generally vest evenly over 3 to 5 years, have a 10-year life and 
are issued at the market value at the date of grant. The Company may grant options with an exercise price 
that is below market price on the grant date, in which case the intrinsic value of such awards are recorded 
in the consolidated statements of operations. 

On November 11, 2004, or grant date, we granted approximately 4.0 million common stock options to 
certain employees under the Denny’s Corporation 2004 Omnibus Incentive Plan approved by the share-
holders on August 25, 2004. The options have an exercise price of $2.42 and will vest 1/3 of the shares on 
each of December 29, 2004, December 28, 2005 and December 27, 2006, respectively. 

The options were issued below the fair market value of the Company’s common stock of $4.22 per share 
on the grant date. The vesting of these options was subject to the achievement of certain performance 
measures which were met as of December 29, 2004. As a result of performance criteria and the issuance of 
the options with an exercise price below the market price at the date of grant, the Company will recognize 
compensation expense related to these options equal to the difference between the exercise price of the 
option and the market price at December 29, 2004, the measurement date, ratably over the options’ 
vesting period. The market price of the Company’s common stock was $4.40 on December 29, 2004. 

The Company recognized approximately $3.1 million of compensation expense in 2004 related to these 
options, which is included as a component of general and administrative expenses. Based on the number 
of options outstanding at December 29, 2004, compensation expense related to these options is estimated 
to be $3.6 million and $1.2 million for 2005 and 2006. 

A summary of our stock option plans is presented below. 

 2004 2003 2002

(Option amounts in thousands)  Options  

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price Options  

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price Options 

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning 
 of year 7,152 $1.44 5,891 $1.71 5,234 $2.34
Granted 4,158 2.43 1,962 0.54 1,916 0.92
Exercised (554) 0.84 — — (41) 0.84
Forfeited/expired  (153) 1.00 (701) 1.17 (1,218) 3.21

Outstanding, end of year  10,603 1.86 7,152 1.44 5,891 1.71

Exercisable at year end  6,277 $1.91 3,835 $2.02 2,347 $2.43
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 29, 2004 
(option amounts in thousands): 

Range of
Exercise Prices  

Number
Outstanding

at 12/29/04  

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life  

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price  

Number
Exercisable
at 12/29/04  

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price 

$0.54– 0.92 3,469 7.46 $0.73 1,931 $0.79
 1.01– 1.03 1,270 6.12 1.03 1,263 1.03
 1.06– 2.00 825 6.10 1.91 825 1.91
 2.42 4,006 9.87 2.42 1,329 2.42
 2.65– 4.69 861 5.01 3.63 757 3.77
 6.31–10.00  172 3.49 8.74 172 8.74

  10,603     6,277  

The weighted-average fair value per option of options granted during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $3.85, 
$0.42 and $0.65, respectively. 

Restricted Stock Units 
On November 11, 2004, or grant date, we granted approximately 3.4 million restricted stock units to cer-
tain employees under the Denny’s Corporation 2004 Omnibus Incentive Plan approved by the sharehold-
ers on August 25, 2004. The restricted stock units will be earned in 1/3 increments (from 0% to 100% of the 
target award for each such increment) based on the “total shareholder return” of the Company’s common 
stock (measured as increase of stock price plus reinvested dividends, divided by beginning stock price) 
over a 1-year performance period, the first such period ending in June 2005 (with any amounts not earned 
carried over to possibly be earned over a 2-year or 3-year period), as compared with the total shareholder 
return of a peer group of restaurant companies over the same period. The full award will be considered 
earned after 5 years based on continued employment. 

Once earned, the restricted stock units will vest over a period of two years based on continued employ-
ment of the holder. On each of the first two anniversaries of the end of the performance period, 50% of 
the earned restricted stock units will be paid to the holder (half of the value will be paid in cash and half in 
shares of common stock), provided that the holder is then still employed with the Company or an affiliate. 
At the grant date, the fair market value of the common stock was $4.22 per share. 

The Company recognized approximately $0.5 million of compensation expense in 2004 related to 
these restricted stock units. Amounts of additional compensation expense to be recorded will be depen-
dent upon meeting certain performance measures and the fair market value of the common stock over the 
performance and vesting periods. 

The Company also recognized approximately $2.9 million of compensation expense in 2004 related to 
0.6 million additional restricted stock units earned during 2004. Approximately $1.7 million of the value will 
be paid in shares of common stock (based on the fair market value of the stock on the payment date) and 
$1.2 million will be paid in cash. Approximately $2.7 million of the value will be paid during the first quarter 
of 2005. 

Approximately $0.3 million and $0.5 million of compensation expense was recognized in 2003 and 
2002, respectively, under similar restricted stock plans. Approximately 0.6 million shares were issued in 
2003 pursuant to restricted stock plans, 0.3 million of which were earned in 2002 and reported as contin-
gently issuable shares at December 25, 2002. 

Compensation expense recognized related to restricted stock plans for all years presented are included 
as a component of general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of operations. 
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Stockholders’ Rights Plan 
Our Board of Directors adopted a stockholders’ rights plan on December 14, 1998, which is designed to 
provide protection for our shareholders against coercive or unfair takeover tactics. The rights plan is also 
designed to prevent an acquirer from gaining control of Denny’s without offering a fair price to all share-
holders. The rights plan was not adopted in response to any specific proposal or inquiry to gain control 
of Denny’s. 

In 2004, the rights plan was amended to provide that the definition of acquiring person under the plan 
does not include any person who became the beneficial owner of 15% or more of our then outstanding 
common stock as a result of the private placement which occurred in the third quarter of 2004, unless and 
until such time thereafter as any such person becomes the beneficial owner of additional common stock 
constituting an additional 1% of our outstanding shares. 

The rights, until exercised, do not entitle the holder to vote or receive dividends. We have the option 
to redeem the rights at a price of $0.01 per right, at any time prior to the earlier of, (1) the time the 
rights become exercisable or, (2) December 30, 2008, the date the rights expire. Until the rights become 
exercisable, they have no dilutive effect on earnings per share. 

Warrants 
There were approximately 3.2 million warrants outstanding for each of the years ended December 29, 
2004 and December 31, 2003. Each warrant, when exercised, entitled the holder to purchase one share of 
common stock at an exercise price of $14.60 per share, subject to adjustment for certain events. All such 
warrants expired on January 7, 2005. 

NOTE 14. Income (Loss) Per Share Applicable to Common Shareholders 

(In thousands)  2004 2003 2002

(Restated) (Restated)
Numerator for basic and diluted income (loss) per share—income (loss) 
 from continuing operations  $(37,675) $(33,820) $ 6,350

Denominator:    
Denominator for basic income (loss) per share—weighted-average shares 64,708 40,687 40,270
Effect of dilutive securities:    
 Contingently issuable shares — — 251
 Options  — — 62

Denominator for diluted income (loss) per share—adjusted weighted-average 
 shares and assumed conversions of dilutive securities  64,708 40,687 40,583

Basic and diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations  $  (0.58) $  (0.83) $  0.16

Stock options excluded(1)  10,603 7,152 4,856

Common stock warrants excluded(1)  3,236 3,236 3,236

(1)  Excluded from diluted weighted-average shares outstanding because their exercise prices exceeded the average market 
price of common stock for the period. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)
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NOTE 15. Discontinued Operations 

As a result of our decision to dispose of FRD, we began accounting for FRD as a discontinued operation in 
the second quarter of 2000. On July 10, 2002, through FRD’s bankruptcy proceedings, the divestiture of 
FRD was completed. The divestiture of FRD resulted in a gain on the disposal of discontinued operations 
in 2002 of $56.6 million, representing the receipt of proceeds of approximately $32.5 million, and the 
elimination of the net liabilities of discontinued operations of approximately $24.1 million at July 10, 2002. 

Denny’s continues to provide $5.3 million of cash collateral supporting FRD’s letters of credit for a fee 
until the letters of credit terminate or are replaced. The FRD letters of credit secure certain obligations of 
FRD and its subsidiaries under various insurance programs which are anticipated to be satisfied in the 
ordinary course of business. Denny’s also received a separate four-year note payable from reorganized 
FRD for continuing to provide the cash collateral. The cash collateral has been deposited with one of 
FRD’s former lenders and is reflected as a component of other noncurrent assets in the accompanying 
balance sheet at December 29, 2004. We recorded interest income of $0.3 million, $0.3 million and 
$2.1 million during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to the FRD credit facility. 

Also on July 10, 2002, Denny’s entered into a service agreement to provide various management and 
support services to FRD over an initial term of up to one year. The last of such services terminated on 
November 30, 2002. Total fees received under the service agreement from commencement on July 10, 
2002 through December 25, 2002 were $2.3 million. As a result of the divestiture of FRD and the termina-
tion of the service agreement, we reduced our number of support staff positions by thirty-three in the 
fourth quarter of 2002. 

Our statements of consolidated operations and cash flows for all periods presented herein reflect FRD 
as discontinued operations in accordance with APB 30. Revenue, operating loss and net loss of discontin-
ued operations for the reported period (through the divestiture of FRD on July 10, 2002) are as follows: 

(In thousands)  2002  

Revenue  $179,657 

Operating loss  $ (302)

Net loss  $ (5,262)

During 2002, we also recorded $4.0 million in income from discontinued operations as a result of the 
reversal of liabilities related to entities previously reported as discontinued operations. 
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NOTE 16. Quarterly Data (Unaudited) 

The results for each quarter include all adjustments which, in our opinion, are necessary for a fair 
presentation of the results for interim periods. Nonrecurring adjustments include restructuring charges 
and exit costs, impairment charges and extraordinary items. Otherwise, all adjustments are of a normal 
and recurring nature. 

Selected consolidated financial data for each quarter of 2004 and 2003 are set forth below: 

(In thousands, except per share data)  
First

Quarter 
Second
Quarter 

Third
Quarter 

Fourth
Quarter(a)

Year Ended December 29, 2004:     
Revenue:     
 Company restaurant sales  $ 207,762 $ 217,906 $ 224,330 $221,250 

 Franchise and licensing revenue  21,633 21,835 22,815 22,475 

  Total operating revenue  229,395 239,741 247,145 243,725 

Cost of company restaurant sales:     
 Product costs 53,075 56,361 58,328 57,436
 Payroll and benefits 88,258 90,018 91,929 92,245
 Occupancy 12,548 12,142 12,850 12,041
 Other operating expenses  28,039 29,166 30,913 29,716 

  Total costs of company restaurant sales 181,920 187,687 194,020 191,438
Cost of franchise and license revenue 7,168 7,049 6,948 7,031
General and administrative expenses 15,181 14,228 16,727 20,786
Depreciation and other amortization 14,218 14,194 13,529 14,708
Restructuring charges and exit costs 105 (519) 1,080 (171)
Impairment charges — 497 195 438
Gains on disposition of assets and other, net  (74) (158) (998) (1,041)

Total operating costs and expenses  218,518 222,978 231,501 233,189 

Operating income  $ 10,877 $ 16,763 $ 15,644 $ 10,536 

Net loss  $ (8,730) $ (2,898) $ (11,813) $ (14,234)

Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (0.21) $ (0.07) $ (0.14) $   (0.16)

(a)  The fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 includes 53 weeks of operations as compared with 52 weeks for all other years 
presented. The fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 has been restated as set forth in Note 2. 

Subsequent to our fourth quarter earnings press release dated February 17, 2005, we adjusted 
depreciation expense by $0.1 million.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)

(In thousands, except per share data)  
First

Quarter 
Second
Quarter 

Third
Quarter 

Fourth
Quarter(a) 

Year Ended December 31, 2003:     
Revenue:     
 Company restaurant sales $199,444 $208,457 $215,573 $228,379
 Franchise and licensing revenue  21,397 21,603 22,817 23,275 

  Total operating revenue  220,841 230,060 238,390 251,654 

Cost of company restaurant sales:     
 Product costs 49,075 53,008 56,215 60,895
 Payroll and benefits 88,544 92,151 91,080 98,166
 Occupancy 12,100 11,947 12,296 12,690
 Other operating expenses  28,745 28,086 31,354 30,378 

  Total costs of company restaurant sales 178,464 185,192 190,945 202,129
Cost of franchise and license revenue 6,492 6,778 6,801 7,054
General and administrative expenses 13,203 13,044 11,982 13,039
Depreciation and other amortization 14,257 14,420 15,254 17,106
Restructuring charges and exit costs 46 (982) 70 1,479
Impairment charges 289 410 1,190 2,097
Gains on disposition of assets and other, net  (2,317) (2,552) (778) (197)

Total operating costs and expenses  210,434 216,310 225,464 242,707 

Operating income  $ 10,407 $ 13,750 $ 12,926 $   8,947 

Net loss  $ (9,082) $ (5,377) $ (6,273) $ (13,088)

Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (0.22) $ (0.13) $ (0.15) $   (0.32)

(a)  The fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 includes 53 weeks of operations as compared with 52 weeks for all other years 
presented. The fourth quarter of fiscal 2003 has been restated as set forth in Note 2. 
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Forward-Looking Statements

The forward-looking statements included in this annual report, which reflect our best judgment based on 
factors currently known, involve risks and uncertainties. Words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “believes,” 
“intends,” “plans,” and “hopes,” variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify 
such forward-looking statements. Except as may be required by law, we expressly disclaim any obligation 
to update these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report 
or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. Actual results could differ materially from those 
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors including, but not limited 
to, the factors discussed in such sections and those set forth in the cautionary statements contained in 
Exhibit 99 to the annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 29, 2004. The forward-looking 
information we have provided in such sections pursuant to the safe harbor established under the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 should be evaluated in the context of these factors.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is listed under the symbol “DNYY” and is eligible for trading on the Over-the-Counter 
Bulletin Board, or the OTCBB®. As of March 1, 2005, 90,361,600 shares of common stock were outstanding, 
and there were approximately 9,850 record and beneficial holders of common stock. We have never paid 
dividends on our common equity securities. Furthermore, restrictions contained in the instruments 
 governing our outstanding indebtedness prohibit us from paying dividends on the common stock in the 
future. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Liquidity and Capital Resources” and Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements.

The following tables list the high and low closing sales prices of the common stock for each quarter of 
fiscal years 2004 and 2003. The sales prices were obtained from the OTCBB. The prices quoted for the 
OTCBB reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not neces-
sarily represent actual transactions.

 High  Low

2004
First quarter $2.75 $0.45
Second quarter 2.84 1.83
Third quarter 3.02 2.15
Fourth quarter 4.68 2.58

2003
First quarter $0.84 $0.36
Second quarter 0.75 0.47
Third quarter 0.69 0.26
Fourth quarter 0.49 0.30
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